ELSEVIER

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Progress in Neurobiology

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/pneurobio



Physiological effects of melatonin: Role of melatonin receptors and signal transduction pathways

Seithikurippu R. Pandi-Perumal ^{a,*}, Ilya Trakht ^a, Venkataramanujan Srinivasan ^b, D. Warren Spence ^c, Georges J.M. Maestroni ^d, Nava Zisapel ^e, Daniel P. Cardinali ^f

- ^a Division of Clinical Pharmacology and Experimental Therapeutics, Department of Medicine, College of Physicians and Surgeons of Columbia University, 630 West 168th Street. Room #BB813. NY 10032. USA
- ^b Department of Physiology, School of Medical Sciences, University Sains Malaysia, Kubang Kerian, Kota Bharu, Kelantan, Malaysia
- ^c Sleep and Alertness Clinic, 750 Dundas Street West, Toronto, ON M6J-3S3, Canada
- ^d Center for Experimental Pathology, Cantonal Institute of Pathology, PO Box 6601, Locarno, Switzerland
- e Department of Neurobiochemistry, The George S. Wise Faculty of Life Sciences, Tel Aviv University, Tel Aviv, Israel
- f Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Buenos Aires, Paraguay 2155, 1121, Buenos Aires, Argentina

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 August 2007 Received in revised form 22 January 2008 Accepted 9 April 2008

Keywords:
Melatonin
Melatonin receptors
Suprachiasmatic nuclei
Dopaminergic system
Blood vessels
Immune system
Prostate
Mammary glands
Alzheimer's disease
Parkinson's disease

ABSTRACT

Melatonin, an endogenous signal of darkness, is an important component of the body's internal timekeeping system. As such it regulates major physiological processes including the sleep wake cycle, pubertal development and seasonal adaptation. In addition to its relevant antioxidant activity, melatonin exerts many of its physiological actions by interacting with membrane MT₁ and MT₂ receptors and intracellular proteins such as quinone reductase 2, calmodulin, calreticulin and tubulin. Here we review the current knowledge about the properties and signaling of melatonin receptors as well as their potential role in health and some diseases. Melatonin MT₁ and MT₂ receptors are G protein coupled receptors which are expressed in various parts of the CNS (suprachiasmatic nuclei, hippocampus, cerebellar cortex, prefrontal cortex, basal ganglia, substantia nigra, ventral tegmental area, nucleus accumbens and retinal horizontal, amacrine and ganglion cells) and in peripheral organs (blood vessels, mammary gland, gastrointestinal tract, liver, kidney and bladder, ovary, testis, prostate, skin and the immune system). Melatonin receptors mediate a plethora of intracellular effects depending on the cellular milieu. These effects comprise changes in intracellular cyclic nucleotides (cAMP, cGMP) and calcium levels, activation of certain protein kinase C subtypes, intracellular localization of steroid hormone receptors and regulation of G protein signaling proteins. There are circadian variations in melatonin receptors and responses. Alterations in melatonin receptor expression as well as changes in endogenous melatonin production have been shown in circadian rhythm sleep disorders, Alzheimer's and Parkinson's diseases, glaucoma, depressive disorder, breast and prostate cancer, hepatoma and melanoma. This paper reviews the evidence concerning melatonin receptors and signal transduction pathways in various organs. It further considers their relevance to circadian physiology and pathogenesis of certain human diseases, with a focus on the brain, the cardiovascular and immune systems, and cancer.

© 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Abbreviations: AANAT, arylalkylamine-*N*-acetyl transferase; AD, Alzheimer's disease; AFMK, *N*¹-acetyl-*N*²-formyl-5-methoxykynuramine; AMMTC, *N*-acetyl-4-aminomethyl-6-methoxy-9-methyl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydrocarbazole; IL, interleukin; cAMP, 3′,5′-cyclic adenosine monophosphate; cGMP, 3′,5′-cyclic guanosine monophosphate; CREB, cyclic AMP responsive element binding; CRSD, circadian rhythm sleep disorders; DA, dopamine; DSPS, delayed sleep phase syndrome; ER, estrogen receptor; GABA, γ-aminobutyric acid; GnRH, gonadotropin-releasing hormone; GPR, G protein receptor; GTP, guanosine triphosphate; HIOMT, hydroxyindole-*O*-methyltransferase; LH, luteinizing hormone; NE, norepinephrine; NK, natural killer; PKC, protein kinase C; PT, pars tuberalis; RGCs, retinal ganglion cells; RGS, regulator of G protein signaling; RPE, retinal pigment epithelium; SCN, suprachiasmatic nucleus.

^{*} Corresponding author at: Somnogen Inc., 8790 112th Street, New York, NY 11418-2317, USA. E-mail address: sleepresearch@gmail.com (S.R. Pandi-Perumal).

Contents

1.	Introduction	336
2.	Melatonin receptors, their localization and regulation	337
3.	Melatonin's signal transduction mechanisms	338
4.	Melatonin receptors in the suprachiasmatic nuclei	339
5.	Melatonin receptors in the eye	340
6.	Melatonin receptors in the hippocampus	341
7.	Melatonin receptors in other brain areas	341
8.	Melatonin receptors in the cardiovascular system	342
9.	Melatonin receptors in the immune system.	343
10.	Melatonin receptors in cancer cells: clinical implications	
	10.1. Breast cancer	343
	10.2. Ovarian and endometrial cancer	344
	10.3. Colon cancer and hepatoma	345
	10.4. Melanoma	
	10.5. Prostate cancer	346
11.	Conclusions	
	References	347

1. Introduction

Melatonin (*N*-acetyl-5-methoxytryptamine) was first isolated and identified by Lerner et al. (1958). It is the major neurohormone secreted during the dark hours at night by the vertebrate pineal gland. Tryptophan serves as the precursor for melatonin biosynthesis, and is taken up from the circulation and then converted into serotonin. Serotonin is then converted into *N*-acetylserotonin by the enzyme arylalkylamine-*N*-acetyl transferase (AANAT) while *N*-acetylserotonin is metabolized into melatonin by the enzyme hydroxyindole-*O*-methyltransferase (HIOMT) (Axelrod and Wurtman, 1968). Once formed, melatonin is released into the capillaries and in higher concentrations into the cerebrospinal fluid (Tricoire et al., 2003) and is then rapidly distributed to most body tissues (Cardinali and Pevet, 1998).

Intravenously administered melatonin exhibits a biexponential decay with a first distribution half-life of 2 min and a second metabolic half-life of 20 min (Claustrat et al., 2005). Circulating melatonin is metabolized mainly in the liver where it is first hydroxylated by cytochrome P450 monooxygenases and then conjugated with sulfate to form 6-sulfatoxymelatonin (Skene et al., 2001). Melatonin is also metabolized by oxidative pyrrole-ring cleavage into kynuramine derivatives (Hirata et al., 1974). The primary cleavage product is N^1 -acetyl- N^2 -formyl-5-methoxykynuramine (AFMK), which is deformylated, either by arylamine formamidase or hemoperoxidases to N^1 -acetyl-5-methoxykynuramine (Hardeland et al., 1993; Tan et al., 2007). Some evidence has suggested that pyrrole ring cleavage contributes to about one-third of the total melatonin catabolism, but the percentage may be even higher in certain tissues. It has been proposed that AFMK is the primitive and primary active metabolite of melatonin (Tan et al., 2007).

The circadian pattern of pineal melatonin secretion is regulated by the biological clock that resides in mammals within the hypothalamic suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) of the hypothalamus. Lesions in the SCN abolish the rhythm of pineal melatonin production in mammals (Klein and Moore, 1979). The SCN is synchronized to the environmental light-dark cycle by light perceived by the retina, acting mainly on a subgroup of retinal ganglion cells (RGCs) that contain the photopigment melanopsin (Berson et al., 2002). These RGCs connect to the SCN via the retinohypothalamic tract.

The SCN regulates pineal gland's function through a polysynaptic network involving the paraventricular nucleus of the hypothalamus. Descending polysynaptic fibers from these regions project through the medial forebrain bundle and the reticular formation to the intermediolateral horns of the cervical segments of the spinal cord (Buijs et al., 1998). Postganglionic sympathetic fibers from the superior cervical ganglia reach the pineal gland and regulate melatonin biosynthesis through the presynaptic release of norepinephrine (NE). NE release occurs during the "night" portion of the circadian pacemaker cycle provided that this occurs in a dark environment.

Activation of the pineal β -adrenergic receptors by NE results in increased 3′,5′-cyclic adenosine monophosphate (cAMP) concentration that promotes the biosynthesis of melatonin (Klein et al., 1971). α_1 -Adrenergic receptors potentiate β -adrenergic activity by producing a sharp increase in intracellular Ca²+ and activation of protein kinase C (PKC) and of prostaglandin synthesis (Vacas et al., 1980; Ho and Klein, 1987; Krause and Dubocovich, 1990). The subcellular mechanisms involved in increase and turnoff of AANAT activity have been elucidated in great detail [see for references Maronde and Stehle, 2007]. Cyclic AMP stimulates AANAT expression and phosphorylation via protein kinase A, which also allows AANAT to be stabilized by binding of 14-3-3 proteins (Schomerus and Korf, 2005; Ganguly et al., 2005). The nocturnal exposure to bright light suppresses melatonin production immediately by degradation of pineal AANAT (Gastel et al., 1998).

It has now been demonstrated that melatonin is produced by many organs other than the pineal gland. These include the retina (Cardinali and Rosner, 1971a,b; Tosini and Menaker, 1998), gastrointestinal tract (Raikhlin and Kvetnoy, 1976; Bubenik, 2002), skin (Slominski et al., 2005), lymphocytes (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2004) and bone marrow (Conti et al., 2000).

Because pineal melatonin production occurs during the dark phase and is acutely suppressed by light, and, further, because melatonin is quickly cleared from the circulation following the cessation of its production, the time and duration of the melatonin peak reflect the environmental night period (Cardinali and Pevet, 1998). Plasma melatonin exhibits a circadian rhythm with high levels at night, and low levels during the day, attaining peak concentrations of plasma melatonin between 02:00 and 04:00 h. Longer nights are associated with a longer duration of melatonin secretion (Cardinali and Pevet, 1998). Hence melatonin is a signal of darkness that encodes time-of-day and length-of-day information to the brain including the SCN, brain and peripheral organs (Pandi-Perumal et al., 2006b). In mammals, melatonin is critical for the regulation of seasonal changes for various physiological,

neuroendocrine and reproductive functions (Reiter, 1980; Cardinali and Pevet, 1998). These actions of melatonin are processed in nuclei of the hypothalamus and in the pars tuberalis (PT) of the pituitary (Lincoln, 2006). These particular functions appear to be less relevant to humans and will therefore not be considered further in this review.

The other major function of melatonin is its regulation of the phase of circadian rhythms by a direct action on the SCN (Gillette and Tischkau, 1999). Melatonin administration has been shown to shift circadian rhythms in both rodents (Redman et al., 1983) and humans (Arendt and Skene, 2005; Cardinali et al., 2006). When administered once daily at the normal bedtime hour, melatonin (at doses ranging from 0.5 mg to 5 mg) entrains free running circadian rhythms of most blind subjects, and improves nocturnal sleep and daytime alertness (Arendt and Skene, 2005). The observations have been confirmed in other studies also (Lockley et al., 1995; Sack et al., 2000). In sighted subjects, melatonin has also been shown to maintain entrainment at a 5 mg dose (Middleton et al., 1997).

The timing of melatonin secretion is closely associated with the timing of sleep propensity and it also coincides with decreases in core body temperature, alertness and performance (Dijk and Cajochen, 1997; Rajaratnam and Arendt, 2001; Arendt, 2006). Melatonin has the capacity to alter the timing of mammalian circadian rhythms and functions in concert with light to synchronize circadian rhythms with the prevailing light–dark cycles. It has been used successfully in treating various circadian rhythm disorders such as delayed sleep phase syndrome (Dahlitz et al., 1991), shift-work sleep disorder (Folkard et al., 1993; Burgess et al., 2002; Srinivasan et al., 2006b), blindness or pathophysiological states of delayed/advanced sleep phase syndromes (Hagan and Oakley, 1995; Zisapel, 2001a; Arendt and Skene, 2005; Lewy et al., 2006; Cardinali et al., 2006).

Melatonin is reported to have a role in sleep initiation as the trigger for opening the circadian "sleep gate", acting as a sleep regulator (Shochat et al., 1997; Krauchi and Wirz-Justice, 2001; Zhdanova and Tucci, 2003; Pandi-Perumal et al., 2005; Dijk and von Schantz, 2005; Zisapel, 2007). Other actions of the hormone include inhibition of dopamine (DA) release in the hypothalamus and retina (Zisapel, 2001b), involvement in the aging process (Reiter et al., 1998; Karasek, 2004) and pubertal development (Waldhauser et al., 1988; Silman, 1991; Cavallo, 1992; Commentz et al., 1997; Salti et al., 2000), blood pressure control (Arangino et al., 1999; Cagnacci et al., 2001; Cavallo et al., 2004; Scheer et al., 2004; Grossman et al., 2006), free-radical scavenging (Tan et al., 2007) and regulation of the immune response (Srinivasan et al., 2005; Carrillo-Vico et al., 2006). If given during the day, when it is not present endogenously, melatonin has soporific effects which resemble its action at night, i.e., it lowers body temperature and induces fatigue while concomitantly producing a brain activation pattern resembling that which occurs during sleep (Gorfine et al., 2006, 2007; Gorfine and Zisapel, 2007).

Melatonin production decreases with age and in certain diseases, e.g., certain malignancies, Alzheimer's disease (AD) and cardiovascular disease (Brugger et al., 1995; Bartsch and Bartsch, 1999; Girotti et al., 2000, 2003; Zhou et al., 2003; Jonas et al., 2003; Pandi-Perumal et al., 2005). This decrease in melatonin output has been linked to insomnia in older patients (Haimov et al., 1994; Leger et al., 2004) and to a higher prevalence of cancer (Bartsch and Bartsch, 2006; Stevens, 2006; Schernhammer et al., 2006).

In this review, we will focus our attention on melatonin receptors and signal transduction pathways and their role in circadian physiology and pathogenesis of certain human diseases. For an in-depth discussion of other important functions of melatonin the reader is referred to recent reviews of its direct

and indirect actions as an antioxidant (Hardeland, 2005; Reiter et al., 2007; Tan et al., 2007).

An important conceptual difficulty in melatonin research is that it is a signal of darkness, but has different functional consequences depending on the species' time of peak activity. In nocturnal species, melatonin is associated with arousal and physical activity whereas in diurnal species, it is associated with sleep and rest. Accordingly, administration of melatonin promotes sleep in humans (Dollins et al., 1994), but not in rats and mice (Huber et al., 1998; Mailliet et al., 2001). Because the SCN has a similar function in nocturnal and diurnally active animals, the differential "interpretation" of the melatonin signal must be downstream to the SCN, and possibly involves a counter-balance between melatonin's effects on brain regions that are involved in certain activities (e.g., arousal) and those involved in suppression of those activities. Similar considerations must be applied to different tissues and functions of melatonin in the body. Therefore, when applicable, the effects on human tissues and mechanisms are highlighted.

2. Melatonin receptors, their localization and regulation

Two mammalian subtypes of G protein coupled melatonin receptors, MT_1 (Mel 1a) and MT_2 (Mel 1b), have been cloned and characterized (Reppert et al., 1994, 1995; Dubocovich and Markowska, 2005). The human MT_2 receptor has a lower affinity (K_d = 160 pmol/l) for 125 I-melatonin as compared to the human MT_1 receptor (K_d = 20–40 pmol/l), but the binding characteristics of the two are generally similar, e.g., both are of high affinity and the agonist binding is guanosine triphosphate (GTP)-sensitive (Dubocovich and Markowska, 2005).

A third melatonin binding site initially called the "MT₃" was later characterized as the enzyme quinone reductase 2 (Nosjean et al., 2000). This enzyme belongs to a group of reductases that participate in the protection against oxidative stress by preventing electron transfer reactions of quinones.

In addition, functional and ligand binding studies have demonstrated the presence of low affinity (K_d in the 10 nm range) melatonin membrane binding sites in the preoptic area of the hypothalamus and in the medulla-pons in rats (Zisapel and Laudon, 1982; Laudon et al., 1988) and hamsters (Anis et al., 1989). While the density of these sites varies with the time of day and physiological conditions, compatible with the ability of melatonin to inhibit DA release in these areas (Zisapel, 2001b), the proteins involved in this activity have not been identified so far.

Melatonin is also a ligand for a retinoid related orphan nuclear hormone receptor (RZR/ROR α) (Becker-Andre et al., 1994). These nuclear receptors belong to the RZR/ROR orphan receptor subfamily, which includes three subtypes (α , β , γ) and four splicing variants of the α -subtype ((Becker-Andre et al., 1993).

In addition, melatonin interacts with intracellular proteins such as calmodulin (Benitez-King and Anton-Tay, 1993), calreticulin (Macias et al., 2003) or tubulin (Cardinali and Freire, 1975; Melendez et al., 1996) and antagonizes the binding of Ca²⁺ to calmodulin (Benitez-King, 2006). These interactions are most likely related to some of the physiological effects of melatonin but critical data regarding this point have yet to be obtained.

MT₁ and MT₂ receptors are expressed both singly and together in various tissues of the body (Reppert et al., 1994,1995; Dubocovich and Markowska, 2005). Functional MT₁ receptors have been localized in the SCN (Liu et al., 1997; Dubocovich and Markowska, 2005), cerebellum (Al Ghoul et al., 1998), hippocampus (Savaskan et al., 2002a), central dopaminergic pathways (i.e., substantia nigra, ventral tegmental area, nucleus accumbens, caudate-putamen) (Uz et al., 2005), ovary (Clemens et al., 2001),

testis (Frungieri et al., 2005), mammary gland (Ram et al., 2002), retina (Scher et al., 2002), coronary blood vessels and aorta (Ekmekcioglu et al., 2001a,b), liver and kidney (Naji et al., 2004), gallbladder (Aust et al., 2004), skin (Slominski et al., 2003) and the immune system (Pozo et al., 2004). Melatonin MT₂ receptors are more restrictively expressed, being found mainly in the brain, although their presence has also been detected in the lung, cardiac, aortic and coronary tissue, myometrium and granulosa cells, immune cells, duodenum and adipocytes (Dubocovich and Markowska, 2005). The "MT₃ receptor" (i.e., quinone reductase 2) is expressed in the liver, kidney, brain, heart, lung, intestine, muscle and brown adipose tissue (Nosjean et al., 2001) and there is pharmacological evidence it is also present in the eye (Pintor et al., 2003).

Melatonin binding and receptor mRNA levels vary on a circadian basis, with expression levels affected by light and melatonin concentration in plasma. In the rodent SCN and PT, MT₁ mRNA expression and 125 I-melatonin binding exhibit daily variations, with elevated levels occurring during daytime. Light exposure during the night also increases 125 I-melatonin binding, coincident with the suppression of melatonin synthesis (Guerrero et al., 1999; Masson-Pevet et al., 2000), indicating that melatonin down-regulates some of its receptor population (Gilad et al., 1997a). Other studies involving manipulation of melatonin levels also support the view that the hormone regulates its own receptors (Recio et al., 1996; Masson-Pevet et al., 2000; Schuster et al., 2000, 2001).

In addition, there is rhythmic regulation of MT₁ mRNA expression and ¹²⁵I-melatonin binding that is independent of rhythmic melatonin secretion (Anis et al., 1989; Masson-Pevet et al., 2000; Schuster et al., 2000, 2001). Estradiol appears to regulate melatonin binding site density and affinity and responses in the rat hypothalamus (Zisapel et al., 1987; Laudon and Zisapel, 1987). Aging is associated with decreases ¹²⁵I-melatonin binding in the rat hypothalamus (Laudon et al., 1988; Oaknin-Bendahan et al., 1995). Indeed, aging and AD are associated with decreased MT₁ melatonin receptor expression in the human SCN and cortex (Brunner et al., 2006), although an increase in MT₁-receptor immunoreactivity in the hippocampus of AD patients has been reported (Savaskan et al., 2002a). The MT₂ melatonin receptor subtype is present in human retina, cortex and hippocampus and its expression level decreases in AD (Savaskan et al., 2005, 2007).

Collectively, these studies reveal the complexity of the mechanisms regulating melatonin receptor expression. It is therefore not surprising that melatonin-mediated responses are also dependent on circadian time, duration of exposure, presence of endogenous melatonin, and functional receptor sensitivity. This is discussed further below, with respect to individual organs or systems.

3. Melatonin's signal transduction mechanisms

The signal transduction pathways for melatonin receptors appear to vary among different tissues and cell types [for reviews, see von Gall et al., 2002; Witt-Enderby et al., 2003 and references cited therein]. By using recombinant melatonin receptors it has been shown that the MT_1 melatonin receptor is coupled to different G proteins that mediate adenylyl cyclase inhibition and phospholipase C beta activation. Thus MT_1 receptor activation leads to activation of a large variety of G proteins including $G_{i\alpha 2}$, $G_{i\alpha 3}$ and $G_{\alpha q}$ (Brydon et al., 1999), and $G_{\alpha s}$, $G_{\alpha z}$ and $G_{\alpha 16}$ (Ho et al., 2001; Chan et al., 2002). In some of these systems, melatonin has inhibitory effects on the cAMP signal transduction cascade (Niles and Hashemi, 1990; Brydon et al., 1999) including decreases in protein kinase A activity (Morgan et al., 1994) and nuclear factor

CREB (cAMP responsive element binding protein) phosphorylation (McNulty et al., 1994). In the hypophyseal PT, the main effect of MT_1 receptor activation is the inhibition of cAMP accumulation (Morgan et al., 1994). However, in COS-7 cells (Chan et al., 2002) and human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells (Schuster et al., 2005) transfected with cloned MT_1 receptors, melatonin causes stimulation of cAMP. Although the exact mechanism remains to be defined, this stimulatory effect was independent of an interaction with G_i or G_s proteins and was tentatively associated with a calcium-calmodulin signal transduction pathway and c-Jun Nterminal kinase activation (Chan et al., 2002; Schuster et al., 2005).

The MT₂ receptor couples to a number of signal transduction pathways including phosphoinositide production, the inhibition of adenylyl cyclase and the inhibition of soluble guanylyl cyclase pathway (Boutin et al., 2005). In NIH3T3 cells transfected with the human MT₂ melatonin receptors, high concentrations of melatonin were found to inhibit cAMP synthesis (Reppert et al., 1995; Jones et al., 2000). Additionally, in slices from the rat SCN the phase shifting effects of melatonin are apparently mediated by MT₂ receptors through the increase in PKC activity (McArthur et al., 1997; Hunt et al., 2001). On the other hand, in human benign and prostate cancer cells, melatonin has been associated with an increase in cyclic 3',5'-cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) levels, presumably through its regulatory effects on G protein signaling (RGS), i.e., by redistributing and modulating G proteinmediated signaling (Gilad et al., 1997a, 1998a; Bubis and Zisapel, 1998, 1999; Rimler et al., 2007).

Melatonin inhibits stimulated DA release in the rat hypothalamus and rabbit retina (Zisapel and Laudon, 1982; Dubocovich, 1983; Zisapel, 2001b). This inhibition is associated with suppression of calcium uptake by the stimulated tissue (Zisapel and Laudon, 1983; Vacas et al., 1984). On the other hand, in human prostate cells the increase by melatonin of cGMP leads to enhanced calcium uptake through cyclic nucleotide gated channels (Rimler et al., 2007). Bidirectional effects of melatonin on calcium uptake in the hypothalamus have been documented at different times of the day (Rosenstein et al., 1991). Activation of MT₁ receptor also induces a transient elevation of cytosolic Ca²⁺ and inositol phosphate accumulation (Brydon et al., 1999; Roka et al., 1999).

The increase in cell calcium may lead to activation of PKC- α , as first demonstrated in human prostate epithelial cells (Gilad et al., 1997a; Sampson et al., 2006; Rimler et al., 2006). In these cells, in which melatonin brought about the nuclear exclusion of the androgen receptor via activation of PKC, melatonin induced membrane association of cytoplasmic PKC- α in a dose-dependent manner. PKC- α blocked melatonin effect on androgen receptors (Sampson et al., 2006). These data suggest that PKC- α activation is a critical step in melatonin action. This may also occur with MT₂ receptors (Godson and Reppert, 1997; Rivera-Bermudez et al., 2003; Gerdin et al., 2004b) and may be associated with downregulation of melatonin receptors (Gerdin et al., 2004b). On the other hand, PKC activation by melatonin attenuates specific cellular functions such as androgen-dependent gene expression in prostate cells (Rimler et al., 2007) and mobilizes RGS proteins in the cells (Rimler et al., 2007). The PKC signaling pathway may thus be an important component of melatonin's circadian effects and may explain some of the multiplicity in G protein types that mediate melatonin's effects in cells.

 MT_1 melatonin receptors can also regulate other ion fluxes and specific ion channels. Inhibition of the large conductance, calcium-activated potassium channel (BK_{Ca}) underlies vasoconstrictor effects due to MT_1 melatonin receptors (Geary et al., 1997, 1998). In this case, channel blockade may result from a decrease in the cAMP-protein kinase A pathway that phosphorylates BK_{Ca} channels. Inward rectifier potassium channels (Kir) are another

potential target for melatonin. MT_1 melatonin receptors expressed in Xenopus oocytes (Nelson et al., 1996) or AtT20 cells (Nelson et al., 2001) activate Kir3 (GIRK) inward rectifier potassium channels through a PTX-sensitive mechanism that may involve $\beta\gamma$ subunits of G_i proteins. Activation of Kir3 channels may underlie melatonin-mediated increases in potassium conductance (Jiang et al., 1995) and inhibition of neuronal firing in the SCN [for references see Brown and Piggins, 2007]. Further discussion of melatonin signal transduction is given below.

4. Melatonin receptors in the suprachiasmatic nuclei

The physiological role of melatonin in the SCN has been studied in a number of animal models. Melatonin inhibits SCN multiunit activity by acting through $\mathrm{MT_1}$ receptors (Liu et al., 1997). This effect is more pronounced during daytime when SCN neuronal activity is high, although it is also observed at night. The acute inhibitory effect of melatonin on SCN multiunit activity is absent in $\mathrm{MT_1}$ receptor knockout mice (Liu et al., 1997). Expression of the $\mathrm{MT_1}$ receptor has been reported in the human SCN (Weaver and Reppert, 1996).

It is interesting to note that while the acute inhibitory effects of melatonin on SCN multiunit activity are abolished in MT_1 melatonin receptor knockout mice, the phase shifting responses persist showing the existence of another distinct melatonin receptor (i.e., the MT_2 receptor, Liu et al., 1997). By contrast, in MT_2 receptor knockout mice the phase shifting response to melatonin was blunted while the inhibitory effect on firing of SCN neurons persisted (Jin et al., 2003).

An understanding of the mechanisms of melatonin receptor regulation in target tissues is an essential prerequisite for elucidating the role of endogenous and exogenously administered melatonin. A diurnal rhythm in the density of high-affinity receptors for melatonin, which is inversely related to its circulating levels, was first observed in hamster and rat brain membranes (Vacas and Cardinali, 1979) and in membranes prepared from rat hypothalamic sections containing the SCN (Laudon and Zisapel, 1986; Tenn and Niles, 1993). Thus, high-affinity binding was most pronounced in the latter part of the light phase, following prolonged depletion of the endogenous agonist, and least evident during darkness when exposure to elevated melatonin concentrations presumably down-regulated the high-affinity receptor (Vacas and Cardinali, 1979; Laudon and Zisapel, 1986; Tenn and Niles, 1993). A significant increase in high-affinity binding has been observed in the PT/median eminence of rats killed at the end of the light phase (when melatonin levels are low) as compared with animals killed in the morning (Vanecek et al., 1990).

Suppression or depletion of circulating melatonin levels by exposure to constant light or pinealectomy causes a significant increase in the density of high-affinity sites in rat brain membranes (Cardinali and Vacas, 1980) as well as in the pars tuberalis of the rat and hamster (Gauer et al., 1992). Conversely, a single injection of melatonin reverses the effect of constant light or pinealectomy on high-affinity binding in the rat pars tuberalis and SCN (Gauer et al., 1993). Moreover, preincubation of cultured ovine PT cells in the presence of melatonin (100 pM or 1 μ M) has been found to significantly reduce melatonin binding in crude PT membranes (Hazlerigg et al., 1993). These early binding site studies did not identify the particular melatonin receptor subtype involved.

Pretreatment with physiological concentrations of melatonin (30–300 pM) decreased the number of MT_2 receptors in SCN (Gerdin et al., 2004b). The decrease in MT_2 melatonin receptor number induced by melatonin was reversible and regained full recovery after 8 h. The desensitization of MT_2 receptors in the SCN did not affect the desensitization of MT_1 receptors (Gerdin et al., 2004a).

Agonist-induced receptor desensitization is a normal process in the regulation of signal transduction in G protein-coupled receptors. Indeed, MT₁ receptors expressed in mouse hypothalamic GT1-7 neurons were desensitized following exposure to melatonin (10 nM) through a β-arrestin 1-dependent mechanism (Roy et al., 2001). In cells expressing the cloned MT₁ and MT₂ receptors, desensitization has been observed in both melatonin receptor subtypes and was associated with C-terminal phosphorvlation and internalization suppression (MacKenzie et al., 2002: Witt-Enderby et al., 2004). A more recent study conducted in immortalized SCN cells indicated strong desensitization of the MT₂ receptor with physiological concentrations of melatonin (30-300 pM) (Gerdin et al., 2004a,b). This melatonin-induced downregulation and desensitization in MT2 receptors was reversible, with receptor density fully recovering after 8 h. Under similar conditions the authors reported desensitization of MT₁ receptors in the immortalized SCN cells, which was not accompanied by down-regulation of MT₁ receptors (Gerdin et al., 2004b). Prevention of melatonin-induced receptor desensitization has been demonstrated by experimentally depolymerizing microtubules in MT₁ receptor-expressing CHO cells and by preventing internalization and allowing reactivation at the membrane by protein phosphatases. The effectiveness of this procedure has been shown by its association with increases in the number of high affinity binding sites, their actions on Gi proteins and their impact on downstream PKC signaling cascades (Jarzynka et al., 2006). The desensitization of melatonin receptors in the SCN presumably plays a role in determining the temporal sensitivity profile of the mammalian biological clock to the melatonin signal. However, these studies were conducted in highly artificial systems, e.g., in CHO or GT1-7 cells transfected with the human melatonin receptor clones. A central issue therefore is whether the dynamics of desensitization which have been observed in vitro are the same as those occurring physiologically, and especially in the SCN.

These findings may be particularly relevant to the treatment of circadian rhythm sleep disorders (CRSD), which often depend on the administration of melatonin at pharmacological doses. Such dosage regimens can result in supraphysiological concentrations in the blood and thereby alter the functional sensitivity of melatonin MT₁/MT₂ receptors (Gerdin et al., 2004a). It should, however, be mentioned that the level of expression of melatonin receptors in the SCN is very low during the day, when melatonin levels are low, and high at night, when melatonin concentrations peak (Masana et al., 2000). Hence the increases in melatonin receptor concentration parallels the increases in the level of its ligand, suggesting that the regulation of the receptor level and sensitivity by melatonin is somewhat more complex than earlier studies had concluded. It must also be noted that there is no clinical evidence for desensitization of melatonin receptors upon use of supraphysiological doses of melatonin. Indeed, treatment with the melatonin receptor agonist S20098 for 14 days did not alter the sensitivity of photically responsive SCN cells to melatonin in the SCN, neither in vivo (intraperitoneal or iontophoretic application of melatonin) nor in SCN slices in vitro (Ying et al., 1998).

Paradoxically, a light pulse delivered during the subjective night (expected to halt melatonin secretion) decreased the specific binding of radiolabeled melatonin to MT₁ receptors in the SCN (Masson-Pevet et al., 1996, 2000). This observation is actually in line with findings of loss of MT₁ SCN receptors in conditions in which the endogenous melatonin output decreases, including cases of elderly patients and in those with AD (Wu and Swaab, 2007). Indeed, this decline in melatonin binding sites was noted in early studies on the aging rat hypothalamus (Laudon et al., 1988). The available evidence supports the conclusion that melatonin's regulation of melatonin receptors depends upon a number of

factors including the cellular milieu, the time of exposure, and the concentration of melatonin and the type of receptor considered (Gerdin et al., 2003).

Melatonin is the prototype of a "chronobiotic" (a substance that adjusts the timing or reinforces oscillators of the central biological clock). Lewy et al. (1992) were the first to report that administration of 2 mg of melatonin advances endogenous circadian rhythms in humans. Since then many investigations have confirmed that exogenous melatonin administration alters the timing of bodily rhythms, including sleep, core body temperature, or endogenous melatonin or cortisol rhythms (Arendt and Skene, 2005; Cardinali et al., 2006). Phase delays are observed with morning administration of melatonin, while phase advances are found after evening administration (Lewy et al., 1992). As part of its time signaling effect melatonin can induce opposing physiological changes in the body. Thus the organism's endogenous phase should be taken into consideration when analyzing melatonin's effects on target organs.

In recent years, clinical evidence has shown that exogenous melatonin administration is useful for treating a variety of circadian disruptions associated with, e.g., jet lag (Herxheimer, 2005), night shift work (Arendt and Skene, 2005), seasonal affective disorder (Lewy et al., 1998), delayed sleep phase syndrome (Dahlitz et al., 1991; Nagtegaal et al., 2000), and non-24-h circadian rhythm sleep disorder in the blind (Sack et al., 2000) and aging (Zisapel, 2007). The effects of melatonin on the SCN are pertinent to its clinical efficacy in CSRD [for reviews, see Zisapel, 2001a; Srinivasan et al., 2006b,c].

The development of non-selective (MT₁/MT₂) melatonin receptor agonists such as ramelteon (RozeremTM) (Roth et al., 2005; Pandi-Perumal et al., 2007) or agomelatine (ValdoxanTM) (Dubocovich, 2006; Pandi-Perumal et al., 2006a) in addition to a prolonged release melatonin preparation (CircadinTM) (Garfinkel et al., 1995; Leger et al., 2004; Lemoine et al., 2007; Wade et al., 2007) has further demonstrated that melatonin receptors play an important role in sleep regulation. Circadin improves quality of sleep, morning alertness, sleep onset latency and quality of life in middle aged and elderly insomnia patients (Garfinkel et al., 1995; Lemoine et al., 2007; Wade et al., 2007).

Ramelteon's affinity for MT_1 and MT_2 receptors is in fact greater than that of melatonin. In functional trials in patients with primary insomnia, ramelteon treatment significantly improved sleep onset latency (Roth et al., 2005, 2006). It is interesting, nevertheless, that the dose required for ramelteon to elicit its clinical effects in patients with insomnia (8–16 mg) is about 4–8 times higher than the 2 mg dose of melatonin used for the same purpose (Haimov et al., 1995; Garfinkel et al., 1995; Wade et al., 2007).

Agomelatine is a naphthalenic compound with strong melatoninergic properties. In accordance with its properties as a melatoninergic agonist, acting on both MT_1 and MT_2 receptors, it exhibits actions similar to those of melatonin, especially on the electrical activity of SCN neurons (Ying et al., 1996). This is in accordance with the properties of a melatoninergic agonist acting on both MT_1 and MT_2 receptors; additionally, agomelatine acts as a 5-HT $_{2C}$ antagonist (Loo et al., 2002; Millan, 2005; Delagrange and Boutin, 2006). Agomelatine's effects on circadian phase (Leproult et al., 2005) and sleep have been described in man (Zupancic and Guilleminault, 2006). As will be further discussed below, the sleep regulating mechanisms of action of melatoninergic agents may involve action at the level of the SCN but also other brain areas such as the hippocampal and cortical areas.

5. Melatonin receptors in the eye

In the eye, melatonin is synthesized by a metabolic pathway which is similar to that which occurs in the pineal gland. The first

description of melatonin biosynthetic capacity in the mammalian retina was made in 1971 by Cardinali and Rosner (1971a,b), who described the presence of HIOMT activity and the conversion of labeled serotonin into melatonin by the rat retina. Subsequent studies confirmed and extended those observations (Tosini and Menaker, 1998; Liu et al., 2004). The presence of HIOMT in the retina at both protein and mRNA levels has been documented in most vertebrates (Bernard et al., 1999). Melatonin exhibits a diurnal rhythm with maximal levels occurring during the dark phase. AANAT has been localized in rat retinal photoreceptors and shown to exhibit a daily rhythm with maximal expression at night (Niki et al., 1998; Iuvone et al., 2002). Although AANAT expression is a conserved feature of the vertebrate retina, the analyses of rhesus monkey and human retinas indicated that HIOMT protein and activity are very low and that HIOMT mRNA is detectable only by the most highly sensitive methodology (Rodriguez et al., 1994; Bernard et al., 1995; Coon et al., 2002). This has led to speculation that circulating melatonin or locally synthesized N-acetylserotonin may substitute for melatonin as a local signal in primate retina.

Immunocytochemical analysis of ocular tissues obtained from avian, rat and human sources has shown that MT₁ and MT₂ receptors are distributed in the cornea, choroid, sclera, photoreceptors, RGCs, retinal pigment epithelium (RPE) and retinal blood vessels (Fujieda et al., 1999; Scher et al., 2002; Wiechmann and Rada, 2003; Rada and Wiechmann, 2006). MT₁ receptors have also been identified in the corneal epithelium, stroma, sclera, and endothelium of Xenopus eyes (Wiechmann and Rada, 2003). The expression of MT₁ receptors in photoreceptor cells in the human eye provides evidence that melatonin acts directly on photoreceptors in mammals, particularly in the rod phototransduction pathway (Scher et al., 2002). The pervasive expression of melatonin receptors in ocular tissues generally suggests that melatonin plays a role in the differential regulation of the growth and remodeling of the fibrous and cartilaginous scleral layers which in turn affect eye size and refraction (Rada and Wiechmann, 2006). Melatonin receptors in the eye also play an important role in regulating aqueous humor secretion and the maintenance of the circadian variations of intraocular pressure (Osborne and Chidlow, 1994).

Melatonin MT₁ receptors are expressed in horizontal, amacrine and ganglion cells of the human retina suggesting that these cells are target sites for melatonin's actions (Scher et al., 2002). The expression of MT₁ receptors in most DA-containing amacrine cells in human retina implicates melatonin in the modulation of DA function by its direct action on neurons which participate in the rod phototransduction pathway (Scher et al., 2003). The expression of MT₁ receptors in the AII subtype of more than 50 subtypes of amacrine cells is evidence that melatonin has a specific physiological role in regulating retinal DA release (Fujieda et al., 2000). In the mammalian retina, the rod photoreceptors make synaptic connections with AII amacrine cells. These cells account for nearly 11% of total amacrine cells present in the retina (Strettoi and Masland, 1996). The modulation of AII gap junctions by ambient illumination forms the basis for visual acuity for the whole 24-h period, during which the retina is exposed to varying levels of illumination.

Retinal DA has been demonstrated to inhibit retinal melatonin synthesis (Nguyen-Legros et al., 1996; Tosini and Dirden, 2000; Jaliffa et al., 2000). Its effect is mediated through $D_{2/4}$ receptors that cause inhibition of AANAT activity. Melatonin, in turn, inhibits retinal DA synthesis (Dubocovich, 1984; Jaliffa et al., 2000). Indeed, DA and melatonin may act as mutually inhibitory retinal signals for day and night.

DA in the retina is essential for modulating AII receptive fields in light adapted retina (Hampson et al., 1992). DA modulates AII

receptive fields by uncoupling homologous All junctions acting through D_1 receptors. Melatonin blocks this D_1 induced accumulation of cAMP via MT_1 receptors present in AlI cells (Iuvone and Gan, 1995). MT_1 receptors are also expressed in some horizontal cells of the human retina (Scher et al., 2002) as well as in ocular vessels and in the adventia of retinal vessels. It has been suggested that this wide-ranging distribution of MT_1 receptors is indicative of melatonin's indirect action on vascular smooth muscle (Savaskan et al., 2002b).

Melatonin MT_2 receptors are also highly expressed in the human retina (Reppert et al., 1995). In addition, they are present in the sclera, lens and RPE (Wiechmann et al., 2004). The presence of MT_2 receptors in the apical microvilli of cell membrane, but not in the basal membrane of the RPE, suggests that melatonin is involved in photoreceptor outer segment disk shedding and phagocytosis (Wiechmann and Rada, 2003).

"MT₃ receptor" sites related to the quinone reductase 2 enzyme family have been identified in the eye and may play a role in the regulation of intraocular pressure (Pintor et al., 2001, 2003). For reviews on the possible involvement of melatonin in eye diseases, particularly in glaucoma, see Lundmark et al. (2006, 2007).

Recent data indicate a decrease in retinal MT_2 melatonin receptors expression in patients with AD (Savaskan et al., 2007). Whether this decrease is linked to the decrease in circulating melatonin production in these patients or functional disconnection from the SCN remains to be determined (Wu et al., 2007).

6. Melatonin receptors in the hippocampus

Melatonin binding sites exist in the hippocampus of several mammals. MT₁ and MT₂ receptors were localized in the dentate gyrus, CA3 and CA1 regions and subiculum of the hippocampus (Musshoff et al., 2002). Melatonin (1 µM) has been found to enhance the firing rate of neurons in the CA1 regions, an effect suppressed by the simultaneous administration of the MT₂ receptor antagonist luzindole (Musshoff et al., 2002). In murine hippocampal slices, melatonin induced a concentration-dependent inhibition of longterm potentiation, an effect prevented by the melatonin MT₂ receptor antagonists luzindole and 4-phenyl-2-propionamidotetraline (Wang et al., 2005). The inhibitory actions of melatonin were lost in mice deficient in MT₂ receptors but not those deficient in MT₁ receptors. Inasmuch as the inhibitory effect of melatonin was overcome by the application of forskolin, an activator of adenylyl cyclase, it was suggested that MT₂ receptors in the hippocampus were involved in the melatonin's action and that this action was mediated through the regulation of protein kinase A pathway (Wang et al., 2005). Recently, the functional consequences of MT₂ receptor deficiency was evaluated in MT2 receptor knockout mice through the use of the elevated plus-maze paradigm (Larson et al., 2006). The learning/memory processes were impaired in MT₂ knockout mice suggesting that in these animals long-term synaptic plasticity in the hippocampus is altered (Larson et al., 2006).

Interestingly, in a randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled functional magnetic resonance imaging study of normal human subjects, melatonin enhanced the activation of the left parahippocampus in an autobiographic memory task (Gorfine et al., 2006). In a subsequent study, it was demonstrated that activation in the left hippocampus at 22:00 h was significantly reduced compared to afternoon hours compatible with diurnal variation in hippocampal activity (Gorfine and Zisapel, 2007). Exogenous melatonin further reduced activation in this region, but only in subjects who had already crossed the melatonin onset phase at this hour and in correlation with endogenous melatonin levels. Inasmuch as such an effect was not demonstrated with melatonin administration in the afternoon, a time dependent effect was

suggested. Conversely, activation in the left parahippocampus at 22:00 h was greater in subjects who had passed the melatonin onset phase. Parahippocampal activation correlated with individual endogenous melatonin levels and was not further affected by exogenous melatonin. These results demonstrate that memory related activation in the hippocampus and parahippocampus are affected by time of day and melatonin in a differential manner and may implicate the circadian clock and melatonin in human memory processing during the night (Gorfine and Zisapel, 2007). Furthermore, melatonin appears to be involved in certain aspects of memory processing. In related brain imaging studies, Gorfine et al. (2007) found that the exogenous administration of melatonin was as effective as a 2 h mid-day nap for enhancing performance in a verbal association task, thus demonstrating that melatonin has an important role in memory consolidation.

In an immunohistochemical study of the brains of elderly human subjects and AD patients, Savaskan et al. (2002a, 2005) found a distinct increase in MT₁ melatonin receptor density in the hippocampus of AD patients that was localized in CA-1-4 subfields. The authors suggested that the increase was due to receptor upregulation as a compensatory response to the impaired melatonin secretion seen in AD patients. By contrast, hippocampal MT₂ melatonin receptors, that in normal subjects are localized in pyramidal neurons of the human hippocampal subfields CA1-4 and in some granular neurons of the stratum granulosum, were decreased in AD patients, a finding that was interpreted as indicating that MT₂ receptors are involved in the mediation of melatonin action in the human hippocampus (Savaskan et al., 2005). The alterations of melatonin MT₂ receptor density in AD patients suggests that these receptors can be involved in the pathology of this disease whose prominent feature is cognitive impairment. The significance of melatonin in AD and its possible therapeutic applications are discussed elsewhere (Srinivasan et al., 2006a).

It is interesting to note that a moderate but significant improvement in cognitive function was documented in AD patients in placebo-controlled (Asayama et al., 2003) and open studies (Brusco et al., 1998a,b). In a retrospective study of the initial and final neuropsychological assessment of 50 outpatients diagnosed as having mild cognitive impairment, 25 of whom had received daily 3–9 mg of a fast-release melatonin preparation p.o. at bedtime for 9–18 months, patients treated with melatonin showed significantly better cognitive performance and a decrease in abnormally high depression scores. Concomitantly they showed improvements in wakefulness and sleep quality (Furio et al., 2007). These results suggest that melatonin can be a useful add-on drug for treating AD and mild cognitive impairment in a clinic environment.

It has been suggested that the loss of hippocampal MT_2 receptors could disturb the activity of γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA)-ergic transmission which may underlie the pathogenesis of AD. Administration of melatonin disrupted the inhibitory neuronal functions by reducing the GABA_A receptor mediated currents in CA1 pyramidal cells through activation of MT_2 receptors (Musshoff et al., 2002). While melatonin does not interact with GABA_A receptors, it is interesting to note that it potentiates the hypnotic effects of benzodiazepine and non-benzodiazepine drugs that enhance GABA_A receptors (Ferini-Strambi et al., 1995; Garfinkel et al., 1997; Wesensten et al., 2005). Co-administration of melatonin during the withdrawal period has been shown to facilitate discontinuation of hypnotic drugs (Garfinkel et al., 1999; Siegrist et al., 2001).

7. Melatonin receptors in other brain areas

MT₁ and MT₂ receptors are expressed in the cell bodies of granule cells and basket-stellate cells of the human cerebellar

cortex and have been found to be co-localized with glutamatergic synapses (Mazzucchelli et al., 1996; Al Ghoul et al., 1998). The possible significance of melatonin for posture control and balance has been discussed (Fraschini et al., 1999).

MT₁ receptors have been localized in other areas of the brain such as the prefrontal cortex, caudate-putamen, substantia nigra, ventral tegmental area, nucleus accumbens and amygdala (Uz et al., 2005). MT₁ receptors exhibit diurnal rhythm with high protein levels occurring at night and low levels during the day. It is interesting that in the study by Uz et al. (2005) most areas described in rodents and humans that expressed MT₁ receptors were linked to the central dopaminergic pathways. These pathways, which are important for movement and reward systems, propagate through regions located in the midbrain (i.e., ventral tegmental area and substantia nigra) and forebrain (i.e., caudate nucleus, putamen, nucleus accumbens and prefrontal cortex) and constitute the nigro-striatal and mesolimbic pathways. These findings are in line with effects of melatonin on dopaminergic transmission in rodents [for review, see Zisapel, 2001b].

The existence of MT_1 receptors in nigro-striatal and mesolimbic pathways explains melatonin's efficacy in regulating dopaminergic behavior, such as the hypokinesia induced in rats by the D_2 antagonist fluphenazine (Sumaya et al., 2004). A single injection of melatonin markedly augmented cocaine-induced locomotor activity in rats while daily injections of melatonin blocked cocaine-induced behavioral sensitization (Sircar, 2000).

In a study of young rats which had been treated with amphetamines, melatonin was found to produce an inhibition of DA release and a significant increase in glutamate and aspartate release in the anterior hypothalamus. In middle-aged and aged rats, the inhibitory effects of melatonin on amphetamine-evoked DA release were maintained, but no effects on glutamate or aspartate release were found (Exposito et al., 1995). These results suggest that, during aging, the modulatory effect of melatonin on DA release in rat anterior hypothalamus is preserved whereas the DA-glutamate interaction is disrupted (Exposito et al., 1995).

Zhdanova and Giorgetti (2002) studied melatonin's effects on cocaine-induced anxiety-like behavior and cAMP levels in the nucleus accumbens of rats using a defensive withdrawal paradigm. Forty-eight hour after the last injection of cocaine, the rats that drank a solution of melatonin (200 ng/ml) at night, either during repeated cocaine administration or during its withdrawal, showed less anxiety-like behavior than controls. Further, the augmentation cAMP levels in the nucleus accumbens of melatonin treated rats was significantly attenuated (Zhdanova and Giorgetti, 2002). It has been suggested that melatonin and its analogues may regulate cocaine-induced behaviors through melatonin receptors located in areas responsible for the rewarding effects of drugs of abuse, such as the nucleus accumbens and the ventral tegmental area (Uz et al., 2005).

As mentioned above, quinone reductase 2 binds melatonin with high affinity (Nosjean et al., 2000) and has a specific pharmacological profile with affinity for prazosin and *N*-acetylserotonin in the brains of Syrian hamsters (the "MT₃ receptor") (Dubocovich et al., 2000). It has been suggested that elevated quinone reductase 2 activity may predispose individuals to neurodegenerative disorders such as Parkinson's disease (Delagrange and Boutin, 2006). Melatonin is useful in ameliorating certain symptoms of Parkinson's disease (Dowling et al., 2005) and since it inhibits quinone reductase 2 activity at low micromolar concentrations, its effectiveness could be linked to interaction with this enzyme, otherwise involved in free radical metabolism.

Numerous studies have suggested that a common comorbidity of depression is the abnormality of the circadian timing system. This seems to occur in various types of depression, but is

particularly evident in seasonal affective disorder (Wehr and Goodwin, 1979). In nearly 80% of depressed patients, profound disturbances in sleep architecture have been documented (Wehr and Goodwin, 1979; Reynolds and Kupler, 1988; Armitage and Hoffmann, 2001). Melatonin has been implicated in mood disorders, particularly in seasonal affective disorder (Srinivasan et al., 2006c). In an investigation of the neurobehavioral consequences of missing the MT₁ receptor, MT₁ knockout $(MT_1-/-)$ and wild-type mice were tested in the acoustic startle/prepulse inhibition, open field and Porsolt forced swim tests (Weil et al., 2006). The results indicated that lack of MT₁ signaling contributes to behavioral abnormalities including impairments in sensorimotor gating (a finding common in schizophrenia) and increases in depression-like behavior. This suggests that activity mediated by the MT₁ receptor may be at least partially responsible for normal brain and behavioral function. Consistent with the findings of Weil et al. (2006) on MT₁ knockout mice, Overstreet et al. (1998) found that melatonin produces behavioral enhancements in the forced swim test, suggesting that it may have antidepressant action.

Further supporting the inference that melatonin can have a role in alleviating depression, Imbesi et al. (2006) found that the CNS content of melatonin receptor mRNA was significantly modified by prolonged treatment with antidepressants such as fluoxetine, desipramine and clomipramine. The melatonin receptor agonist agomelatine functions additionally as a 5-HT_{2C} antagonist (Loo et al., 2002; Millan, 2005; Delagrange and Boutin, 2006) and the findings are consistent with clinical evidence showing that agomelatine has anxiolytic (Millan, 2005) and antidepressant (Dubocovich, 2006; Pandi-Perumal et al., 2006a) properties. It is interesting to note that while a link between melatonin and depression has not been consistently demonstrated, melatonin administration significantly improved the quality of sleep and vitality in adults exhibiting subsyndromal seasonal affective disorder (Leppamaki et al., 2003). Melatonin may be used to alleviate depressed mood during winter depression (Lewy et al., 1998). Co-administration of melatonin improves sleep in depressed patients undergoing therapy with serotonin reuptake inhibitors (Fainstein et al., 1997; Dolberg et al., 1998).

Several members of the G protein-coupled receptors family modulate the function of other receptors through heterodimerization. G protein receptor (GPR)50, an orphan G protein-coupled receptor, is about 45% identical to human MT₁ and MT₂ and heterodimerizes constitutively and specifically with MT₁ and MT₂ melatonin receptors in intact cells (Levoye et al., 2006). While the association between GPR50 and MT₂ did not modify MT₂ function, GPR50 abolished high-affinity agonist binding and G protein coupling to the MT₁ receptor. Interestingly, a genetic study has shown that a deletion mutant of GPR50 is associated with bipolar depression and major depressive disorder (Thomson et al., 2005). The relationship between melatonin receptors and affective disorders warrants further research.

8. Melatonin receptors in the cardiovascular system

Patients with coronary heart disease and non-dipper hypertensive patients (patients who do not exhibit a normal decline in blood pressure at night) have significantly lower nocturnal melatonin secretion than healthy controls (Brugger et al., 1995; Girotti et al., 2000; Yaprak et al., 2003; Jonas et al., 2003). Melatonin receptors (both MT_1 and MT_2) have been identified in the human coronary arteries of healthy human subjects and patients suffering from coronary heart disease (Ekmekcioglu et al., 2001a, 2003). Expression of MT_1 receptors in the coronary arteries exhibits 24 h variation with lowest values detected after 02:00 h

up to the late morning hours and a progressive increase seen after 13:00 h until midnight (Ekmekcioglu et al., 2001b). The expression of melatonin MT_1 receptor in the coronary arteries followed a similar rhythm and amplitude in coronary patients and in controls (Ekmekcioglu et al., 2001b). In contrast, melatonin MT_2 receptor expression in coronary arteries, aorta and left ventricles of patients with coronary heart disease differed from that of controls (Ekmekcioglu et al., 2003).

The role of melatonin in human coronary arteries is under intense investigation. Studies undertaken in animals have indicated that melatonin has dual effects on the vasculature with vasoconstriction being observed through MT_1 receptor activation, and vasodilatation through MT_2 receptor activation (Masana et al., 2002; Ersahin et al., 2002). The presence of MT_1 and MT_2 receptors has also been demonstrated in human left ventricular tissue (Ekmekcioglu et al., 2001a, 2003) but melatonin's role in left ventricular function has not been fully clarified. Melatonin stimulates high voltage activated calcium currents in embryonic heart tissues (Mei et al., 2001).

The finding that melatonin receptors in arteries are involved in thermoregulation was first demonstrated by Viswanathan et al. (1990) in rodents. The effect of melatonin on systemic vessels linked to thermoregulation was also demonstrated in humans inasmuch as the administration of melatonin during the day decreased core body temperature via vasodilatation in distal body regions (Krauchi et al., 1997; van den Heuvel et al., 1999). Exactly which melatonin receptors are involved in these effects remains to be investigated.

Melatonin is effective for lowering blood pressure in humans. In normal men (Arangino et al., 1999) and postmenopausal women undergoing hormone replacement therapy (Cagnacci et al., 2001), 1 mg melatonin p.o. reduced mean arterial blood pressure by about 6 mmHg. A decline in blood pressure after melatonin was also found in type 1 diabetic adolescents (Cavallo et al., 2004), essential hypertensive patients (Scheer et al., 2004) and in patients with nocturnal hypertension (Grossman et al., 2006). The melatonin receptor involved in this effect remains to be identified.

9. Melatonin receptors in the immune system

Melatonin is immunomodulatory in both animals and in humans (Maestroni, 2001; Srinivasan et al., 2005). Inhibition of melatonin synthesis for instance suppresses both cellular and humoral responses in mice (Maestroni et al., 1986).

The immunomodulatory role of melatonin is related in part to its action on specific melatonin receptors located in immunocompetent cells (Maestroni et al., 2002). Melatonin also regulates hematopoiesis through its action on specific receptors on bone marrow cells (Maestroni, 2001). In a study of human lymphocytic cells (Jurkat) and monocytic cells (U937), melatonin was found to enhance IL-2 and IL-6 production by acting through nuclear RZR/ROR α receptors and membrane MT $_1$ receptors (Garcia-Maurino et al., 2000). Inasmuch as melatonin stimulated IL-6 production from U937 monocyte cells when treated with IFN- γ (a procedure that induces the expression of the ROR $\gamma 1$ and ROR $\alpha 2$ nuclear receptors and represses the expression of MT $_1$ receptor) Garcia-Maurino et al. (2000) concluded that the expression of nuclear melatonin receptor is essential for melatonin's effect on IL-6 production.

The contribution of MT_1 and MT_2 receptors in mediating the melatonin-induced enhancement of cellular and humoral immune function was explored in mice (Drazen and Nelson, 2001; Drazen et al., 2001). Melatonin enhanced splenocyte proliferation in both wild type and $MT_1-/-$ mice, an effect that was blocked by the MT_2 antagonist luzindole. This indicates that the melatonin-induced enhancement of immune function is mediated via MT_2 receptors (Drazen and Nelson, 2001; Drazen et al., 2001).

In the thymus and spleen of mice, a significant expression of membrane MT_1 and MT_2 receptors, and of nuclear RZR/ROR α , occurs (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2003). The use of the MT₂ receptor blocker luzindole or of the nuclear RZR/ROR blocker CGP 55644 has been found to reduce human lymphocyte IL-2 and IL-2 receptor production (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2004). Indeed, human lymphocytesynthesized melatonin may play a crucial role in modulating the IL-2/IL-2 receptor system. This conclusion is based on a study showing that when melatonin biosynthesis is blocked by the tryptophan hydroxylase inhibitor parachlorophenylalanine, both IL-2 and IL-2 receptor levels fall, an effect counteracted by the addition of exogenous melatonin (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2005). Similarly, prostaglandin E₂-induced inhibition on IL-2 production increased when MT2 membrane receptors were blocked by luzindole (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2005). Taken together, these data indicate that melatonin synthesized in human lymphocytes is involved in the physiological regulation of the IL-2/IL-2R expression through a mechanism comprising both membrane and nuclear melatonin receptors (Carrillo-Vico et al., 2006).

Immunosurveillance is one of the major phenomena through which cancer cells are detected and eliminated. The activation of lymphocytes and monocytes/macrophages by melatonin is one of the principal mechanisms by which melatonin prevents tumor development (Martins E Jr et al., 1998; Miller et al., 2006). It has been found that neoplasms resistant to IL-2 respond well to IL-2 therapy after the concomitant administration of melatonin. In one study, patients who received both IL-2 and melatonin exhibited a significantly higher number of lymphocytes, T lymphocytes, NK cells, and CD4⁺ cells than those receiving IL-2 alone (Lissoni et al., 1993a). Immunotherapy with a low dose of IL-2 and melatonin was beneficial in treating advanced tumors of the digestive tract (Lissoni et al., 1993b). Melatonin's influence in enhancing IL-2 production by acting on human lymphocytes and in augmenting IL-6 production by acting through monocytic cells underscores the importance of melatonin receptors in the oncostasis exerted by melatonin (Lissoni, 1999). In addition to immunostimulation, the melatonin/IL-2 relationship may be particularly relevant for immune tolerance. CD4⁺-CD25⁺ T regulatory cells represent a critical T cell subset that suppresses peripheral autoreactive T cells that escape thymic negative selection (Malek and Bayer, 2004). IL 2-deficient mice exhibit a lethal lymphoproliferative disorder accompanied by severe autoimmunity (Suzuki et al., 1995). IL-2 and IL-2R knockout mice contain severely reduced numbers of CD4+-CD25+ cells (Malek and Bayer, 2004). The finding that normalizing the production of CD4⁺-CD25⁺ T regulatory cells in such mice can inhibit uncontrolled T cell proliferation and autoimmunity (Wolf et al., 2001) suggests that melatonin may affect T-cell tolerance via IL2. It is possible that the ability of melatonin to enhance inflammatory cytokine production from human monocytes/macrophages, including IL-6 and IL-12, may turn the melatonin/IL-2 connection toward the enhancement of T cell immunity rather than to the formation of T regulatory cells. It has in fact been reported that IL-6 plays a crucial role in driving the differentiation of T regulatory cells into IL-17 secreting T-helper cells which contribute in Th-1 and autoimmune responses (Xu et al., 2007). Thus, in the absence of inflammatory stimuli the immunological function of melatonin might be opposite to that exerted during inflammation and/or infection. Further studies are necessary to confirm these hypotheses.

10. Melatonin receptors in cancer cells: clinical implications

10.1. Breast cancer

Ever since Bartsch et al. (1981) showed that compared to healthy controls, Indian women with advanced breast cancer had

diminished urinary levels of melatonin, a number of functional studies have shown a relationship between melatonin and human breast cancer. Tamarkin et al. (1982) found that compared to age matched controls, the normal nocturnal increase in the plasma concentration of melatonin in women with estrogen-receptor (ER) positive breast tumors was significantly reduced and further that an inverse correlation existed between ER levels and peak melatonin values. It has been hypothesized that the circadian rhythm of nocturnal melatonin production may represent a "regulatory signal" for the carcinogenic process; it may exert a "natural restraint" on tumor initiation, promotion, and/or progression (Blask et al., 2005a,b).

In an in vitro study, Hill and Blask (1988) demonstrated that physiological concentrations of melatonin cannot only alter the morphology of estrogen-responsive MCF-7 human breast cancer but also inhibit the growth of cancer cells. Nanomolar concentration of melatonin in the presence of serum or estradiol: (i) inhibits, in a reversible way, cell proliferation (Cos et al., 1991), (ii) increases the expression of p53 and p21WAF1 proteins and modulates the length of the cell cycle (Mediavilla et al., 1999), and (iii) reduces the metastatic capacity of these cells and counteracts the stimulatory effect of estradiol on cell invasiveness (Cos et al., 1998). The latter effect is mediated, at least in part, by a melatonin-induced increase in the expression of the cell surface adhesion proteins E-cadherin and β_1 -integrin.

The direct oncostatic effects of melatonin depend on its interaction with the tumor cell estrogen-responsive pathway since melatonin down-regulates the expression of ER α and inhibits the binding of the estradiol-ER complex to the estrogen response element in DNA (Lawson et al., 1992; Molis et al., 1994; Rato et al., 1999). Interestingly, estradiol inactivates melatonin receptors and consequently responses in human epithelial benign prostatic hyperplasia cells, probably through PKC activation (Gilad et al., 1997b). In the rat hypothalamus, estradiol was associated with higher affinity binding of 125 I-melatonin and higher inhibition by melatonin of stimulated DA release (Zisapel et al., 1987; Laudon and Zisapel, 1987).

The molecular mechanisms for the oncostatic actions of melatonin have been inferred from its actions on membrane MT₁ and MT₂ receptors and on nuclear RZR/ROR α receptors. A putative melatonin agonist CGP-52608 with specific binding to nuclear RZR/ROR α orphan receptors and no affinity for MT₁ and MT₂ receptors was used to study melatonin's action on MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Similar to melatonin, CGP-52608 inhibited the MCF-7 cell proliferation in a time dependent manner (Ram et al., 2002). However, the dose of CGP-52608 used was found to be lethal for MCF-7 cells, suggesting that nuclear RZR/ROR α orphan receptors are not the primary receptors for mediating melatonin's oncostatic effects.

Since MCF-7 cells contain MT_1 receptors, the efficacy of the MT_1 agonist N-acetyl-4-aminomethyl-6-methoxy-9-methyl-1,2,3,4-tetrahydrocarbazole (AMMTC) was tested at a concentration of 10^{-9} M. AMMTC significantly inhibited MCF-7 cell proliferation by 40% (Ram et al., 2002). Melatonin at a concentration of 1 nM caused a significant 33% and 21% inhibition of cell growth in MCF-7 and vt-MCF-7 cells (Yuan et al., 2002). Inasmuch as the melatonin and AMMTC growth inhibitory effect on MCF-7 was abrogated by specific MT $_1$ receptor antagonism, Ram et al. (2002) concluded that the MT $_1$ melatonin receptor is the primary mediator of melatonin's growth inhibitory effect on MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Additional evidence for this conclusion was provided by the use of S20928, a MT $_1$ /MT $_2$ melatonin G protein coupled receptor antagonist, which abolished melatonin's growth-suppressive effects (Yuan et al., 2002).

Overexpression of the MT₁ G protein coupled melatonin receptor also significantly inhibited the basal proliferative rate

of ER α positive MCF-7 cells. This elevated expression of MT₁ receptors was associated with the increase in the radiolabeled melatonin binding and enhancement of the growth-inhibitory and gene modulatory effects of melatonin in ER α positive human breast cancer cells (Yuan et al., 2002).

The decrease in cAMP production caused by melatonin via MT_1 and MT_2 receptor interaction decreases the uptake of linoelic acid, an essential fatty acid, by specific fatty acid transporters (Blask et al., 2002). Linoleic acid can be oxidized to 13-hydroxyoctade-cadienoic acid by 15-lipoxygenase, serving as an energy source for tumor growth and tumor growth signaling molecules. Inhibition of linoleic acid uptake by melatonin is regarded as a mechanism of its antiproliferative effects (Blask et al., 2002).

The inhibitory action of melatonin on mammary carcinogenesis has also been attributed to melatonin's immunomodulatory effects (Maestroni, 1993; Vijayalaxmi et al., 2002; Anisimov et al., 2006; Miller et al., 2006). Indeed, disturbances of immune mechanisms have been documented in experimental models of mammary cancer. For example, the absence of the cytosolic protein Nod1 in MCF-7 cells correlated with tumor growth, an increased sensitivity to estrogen induced cell proliferation, and a failure to undergo Nod1-dependent apoptosis (da Silva et al., 2006). IL (interleukin)-2 and chemotherapy are employed in the treatment of metastatic breast cancer (Miller et al., 1997; Gravis et al., 2000; Burns et al., 2003). IL-2 is used to increase the efficacy and cytolytic function of natural killer (NK) cells and, in combination with interferon and chemotherapy, has been used as an adjuvant treatment in highrisk breast cancer (Tonini et al., 1998). The link between melatonin and the immune system in cancer has been explored in a recent Phase II study with melatonin causing increases in some cytokines and amplifying the objective responses to cytokine in patients (Abrial et al., 2005).

Angiogenesis is an essential step in the development of primary tumors. Endothelin-1 synthesis in blood vessels is considered as one of the main stimulants of angiogenesis in primary tumors via the release of vascular endothelial growth factor, an effect that is arrested by melatonin which suppresses the formation of endothelin-1 by inhibiting endothelin-converting enzyme-1 (Kilic et al., 2004). Further characterization of this effect will be revealing about the molecular mechanisms by which melatonin causes vacuolization of tumors and will contribute significantly to the understanding of the anti-tumor effect of melatonin.

Collectively, these studies demonstrate the critical role of MT_1 receptors in mediating melatonin's antiproliferative effect on human breast cancer cells and point to the possibility that melatonin or its MT_1 analogs may have potential as agents for oncostatic therapy. Further studies are required, however, to determine if the effects observed in cultured cells can be extrapolated to whole living systems.

10.2. Ovarian and endometrial cancer

After the identification of melatonin in the ovary (Brzezinski et al., 1987; Ronnberg et al., 1990), several studies sought to examine the local role of melatonin. Melatonin modulates a number of physiological functions of the ovary by acting through MT_1 and MT_2 receptors (Masana and Dubocovich, 2001). Both receptors were detected in human (Niles et al., 1999) and murine granulose cells (Clemens et al., 2001).

Studies conducted on human ovarian cells (BG-1 cell line) in vitro have shown that melatonin (10^{-5} to 10^{-10} M) decreased proliferation of these cells by more than 20% (Petranka et al., 1999). A non-homogeneous response to melatonin was found in ovarian carcinoma cell cultures of different cell lines. Cells of one tumor line were inhibited by 90% at a melatonin concentration of 10^{-8} M,

while cells from a second tumor showed a growth inhibition by 30% (Bartsch et al., 2000b). In another study, 10^{-9} M melatonin exerted an anti-proliferative effect in OVCAR-3 cell lines (Futagami et al., 2001). Studies conducted in ovarian carcinoma patients did not show any significant difference in melatonin secretion as compared to controls (Bartsch et al., 2000a).

Endometrial carcinoma is the most common malignant neoplasm of the female genital tract. Although the pathogenesis of this malignancy is not well understood, melatonin deficiency was seen as one of the possible factors, due to its anti-estrogenic properties. A reduced melatonin secretion has been reported in patients with endometrial cancer (Karasek et al., 2000). It has been suggested that individual differences are involved in tumor growth modulation and sensitivity to melatonin (Bartsch et al., 2000a).

10.3. Colon cancer and hepatoma

Colorectal cancer is one of the leading types of cancers of the gastrointestinal tract. It is predicted that the prevalence of colorectal cancer will increase in the general population from 0.36% to 0.46% between year 2000 and 2020 (Mariotto et al., 2006). The presence of melatonin in the enterochromaffin cells of the gastrointestinal tract was first demonstrated by Raikhlin and Kvetnoy (1976). After systemic administration, melatonin was found to accumulate in the stomach and the colon (Bubenik, 2002). Maximum binding occurred in the mucosa and intestinal villi (Lee et al., 1995). Melatonin receptors are localized in the gastrointestinal system. The highest concentration of melatonin receptors is found in the mucosa of jejunum and colon (Pontoire et al., 1993; Lee and Pang, 1993; Poon et al., 1996). In the colon, melatonin is thought to play a role in regulating Cl- secretion (Chan et al., 1998). A circadian variation in the expression of melatonin receptors has been described in the gastrointestinal tract, with maximum density of receptors occurring at 21:00 h coinciding with increased levels of circulating melatonin (Motilva

Melatonin may modulate intestinal ion transport and motility (Bubenik, 2002). In the duodenal mucosa, melatonin influences HCO₃⁻ secretion from the duodenal mucosa through an effect mediated by MT₂ receptors (Sjoblom and Flemstrom, 2003; Sjoblom et al., 2003). In a recent study, the MT₁ receptor was localized in the intestinal segments of the rat with the highest transcript levels in the epithelial and subepithelial layers of the duodenum (Sotak et al., 2006). The expression of melatonin receptors was up-regulated by nutritional deprivation.

Interest in the possible role of melatonin in colorectal cancer increased following the identification of melatonin binding sites in human colon tissue from patients with carcinoma of the rectum or colon. $^{125}\text{I-melatonin}$ binding sites were identified in the mucosa/submucosa of the human colon and radioimmunoassay revealed melatonin concentration of 467 ± 99 pg/g human colon (Poon et al., 1996). Daytime melatonin concentration in the colon of patients with colorectal carcinoma was 3147 ± 87.8 pg/g tissue (Poon et al., 1996).

In line with the findings for breast cancer, i.e., that nocturnal lighting suppresses melatonin production, the fact of being employed on a rotating shift at least three nights per month for more than 15 years was found to increase significantly the risk of colorectal cancer in female nurses (Schernhammer et al., 2003). Further confirmation of a possible association between reduced melatonin output and cancer development was provided in a study of melatonin levels in patients with colorectal carcinoma of melatonin levels in 12 female and 21 male patients with colorectal carcinoma (Kos-Kudla et al., 2002). Compared to 28 healthy agematched controls, the cancer patients showed significant decre-

ments in the peak amplitude of melatonin secretion as well as a reduction in overall melatonin output (Kos-Kudla et al., 2002).

The effect of melatonin on inhibition of colon carcinoma cell growth was studied in CT-26 cells, a murine colon carcinomaderived cell line (Farriol et al., 2000). Although melatonin had no effect on cell growth at low doses, a statistically significant and progressive suppression of DNA synthesis was found as melatonin doses increased (the percentage of inhibition being 1 mM, 22%; 2 mM 25%; 3 mM 47%) (Farriol et al., 2000). Inasmuch as no receptors were involved in the cell line selected, it was concluded that melatonin exerted its anti-proliferative action through a non-hormone dependent mechanism. In another study, the oncostatic effect of melatonin on colon cancer was demonstrated to be mediated through MT₂ receptors and through its binding to nuclear RZR/ROR α receptor (Winczyk et al., 2002). CGP 55644, an antagonist of the nuclear RZR/ROR α receptor, diminished the oncostatic effect of melatonin on murine colon.

The effect of the simultaneous administration of melatonin and the cytotoxic drug CPT-11 was evaluated in 30 patients with metastatic colorectal carcinoma (Cerea et al., 2003). It was found that co-administration of melatonin (20 mg/day at bedtime) with CPT-11 was more effective in controlling the disease than administration of CPT-11 alone. These findings support the inference that melatonin could enhance the effect of chemotherapy in colorectal carcinoma. By increasing the level of oxidizable substrates that can be incorporated into mitochondria in the presence of flavone, melatonin (1 mM concentration) has been shown to potentiate flavone-induced apoptosis in HT-29 human colon cancer cells (Wenzel et al., 2005).

Melatonin was detected in the human liver in a concentration that was 15 times higher than that in blood (Messner et al., 2001). In gallbladder bile, melatonin's concentration ranges from 2000 to 11,000 pg/ml, a concentration suitable for prevention of oxidative damage (Tan et al., 1999). Expression of MT_1 receptors also occurs in the epithelia of human gall bladder cells (Aust et al., 2004).

N-nitrosodiethylamine (NDEA) is a potent carcinogenic agent that induces liver cancer. In a recent study performed to evaluate the chemopreventive function of melatonin in this experimental model, Wistar male rats received a single i.p. injection of NDEA or vehicle followed by weekly s.c. injections of carbon tetrachloride or vehicle for 6 weeks. Melatonin (5 mg/kg body weight) or its vehicle (0.5 ml saline) was given i.p. on a daily basis 2 h before lights off for 20 weeks (Subramanian et al., 2007). At the end of this period the rats were sacrificed and liver and blood samples were taken for histological and biochemical studies. NDEA administration inhibited body weight, produced macro- and microscopically detectable liver tumors and increased levels of plasma aspartate transaminase, alanine transaminase and α -fetoprotein. NDEA treatment decreased the levels of liver thiobarbituric acid reactive substances and the activity of catalase and superoxide dismutase and increased liver reduced glutathione levels and glutathione peroxidase and glutathione S-transferase. Melatonin administration significantly curtailed tumor development and counteracted all the biochemical effects, presumably via its direct and indirect antioxidant effects (Subramanian et al., 2007).

Melatonin's oncostatic effect on hepatoma 7288CTC cell lines is due to its inhibition of fatty acid uptake, an action mediated via MT_1 receptors and a G_1 protein-coupled signal transduction pathway (Blask et al., 1999; Sauer et al., 2001). Melatonin's regulatory influence on lipid homeostasis in tumors via melatonin receptors is a key mechanism which underlies its oncostatic effects.

In a study conducted on 35 patients (colorectal cancer = 14; gastric cancer = 8; hepatic carcinoma = 6; pancreatic adenocarcinoma = 7), interleukin (IL)-2 and melatonin were administered

simultaneously (Lissoni et al., 1993a). Melatonin was given orally at a daily dose of 50 mg starting 7 days before IL-2, which was given simultaneously at a dose of 3 million IU/day at 20:00 h for 6 days a week for 4 weeks, which corresponds to one cycle of immunotherapy. Complete response was achieved in two patients (gastric cancer = 1, and hepatic carcinoma = 1). Partial response was shown in 6 other patients (gastric cancer = 2, hepatic carcinoma = 2, colon cancer = 1, pancreatic cancer = 1). The overall response rate was 8/35 (23%). The authors concluded from this study that a low dose of IL-2 plus melatonin can be well tolerated and holds a promise for an effective therapy of advanced tumors of the digestive tract (Lissoni et al., 1993a).

In another study on 100 patients with inoperable advanced primary hepatocellular carcinoma, trans-catheter arterial chemoembolization (TACE) was used along or associated with melatonin (Yan et al., 2002). The effectiveness rates of TACE or TACE + melatonin were 16% and 28% respectively. The survival rate of 0.5, 1 and 2 years in the TACE group was 82%, 54%, and 26% respectively, while in the TACE + melatonin group it was 100%, 68% and 40% respectively. An elevation of IL-2 level was noted in the patients treated in combination with melatonin, showing thereby that immunoenhancing function of melatonin contributed to a greater percentage of response in this group of patients (Yan et al., 2002).

Endogenous melatonin has protective effects in pancreatic tissue. This presumably occurs through its action on MT₂ receptors as suggested by the observation that the exogenous administration of luzindole aggravates caerulin-induced pancreatitis (Jaworek et al., 2002), often a precarcinoma lesion.

10.4. Melanoma

The MT_1 receptor is widely distributed in human skin; it is located in most cutaneous cells including the keratinocytes, melanocytes, fibroblasts squamous cell carcinoma and melanoma cells (Slominski et al., 2002). MT_1 immunoreactivity has also been detected in keratinocytes of the spinous and granular epidermal layers of the human scalp (Slominski et al., 2005). MT_2 receptors are found in normal and malignant melanocytes (Roberts et al., 2000) and in eccrine sweat glands (Slominski et al., 2005).

It has been suggested that the cutaneous melatoninergic system can protect the physical and functional integrity of the skin against environmental stress or internal dyshomeostatic stimuli. Melatonin protects human skin against UV radiation (Slominski et al., 2003) and X-rays (Kanikkannan et al., 2001). The radioprotective action of melatonin has been attributed mainly to its ability to scavenge free radicals and to stimulate antioxidative enzymes (Kim et al., 2001; Slominski et al., 2005). Specifically, melatonin has been implicated in hair growth cycling and cutaneous pigmentation (Slominski et al., 2004).

In human melanocytes and melanoma cells, melatonin and its membrane receptor agonists inhibit growth presumably by the activation of MT₂ receptors (Roberts et al., 2000). The antiproliferative effect of melatonin in the human melanoma cell line SK-Mel 28 was also mediated via melatonin MT₂ receptors since it was reversed by the MT₂ receptor antagonist luzindole (Souza et al., 2003). Melatonin's anti-proliferative effect has also been demonstrated in B16 murine melanoma cells where it was found to be dose-dependent with higher concentrations being more inhibitory than the lower ones (Yerneni and Jayaraman, 2003). The effect of melatonin ranges from moderately inhibitory (oncostatic) to highly inhibitory to lethal (oncotoxic). It was reported that at low concentrations (2–77 pg/cell) melatonin did not significantly affect the cell number, but at intermediate concentrations (1936–2003 pg/cell) a moderate inhibitory effect

≥50% in comparison to control values was shown. At higher concentrations (7743–19,356 pg/cell) melatonin caused >50% drop in the cell number. The most striking finding was that at the highest concentration there was total elimination of cells by day 5 of the study. Such an effect of melatonin has been attributed to its direct effect of melatonin and not to a receptor-mediated cascade of reactions (Yerneni and Jayaraman, 2003).

In cultured human uveal melanoma cells, melatonin inhibited growth in a dose dependent manner in the range of concentrations 0.1–10 nM (Hu et al., 1998). In another study, the growth inhibitory effect of melatonin was demonstrated at a concentration of 2 nM, the physiological concentration found in aqueous humor; the growth inhibiting effect of melatonin on uveal melanoma cells was shown to be related to activation of MT_1 melatonin receptors (Roberts et al., 2000). In addition, the anti-proliferative effect of melatonin was attributed to the stimulatory action on antioxidative enzyme synthesis (Kadekaro et al., 2004).

High daytime serum melatonin levels (9.7–20.9 pg/ml) was reported in patients with melanoma as compared to normal individuals (1.4–2.1 pg/ml) (Kerenyi et al., 1990). High melatonin levels were reported in patients with choroidal melanoma where melatonin levels decreased following enucleation (Kiratli et al., 2003). The increase of melatonin levels seen in these patients was suggested as a compensatory mechanism for arresting the cancerous growth (Kiratli et al., 2003).

10.5. Prostate cancer

The rat prostate contains GTP-sensitive melatonin binding sites (Gilad et al., 1998b). Daily injections of testosterone to castrated rats induced regrowth of the prostate and increased the weight of the seminal vesicles. Administration of melatonin to the rats through drinking water prevented the testosterone-mediated regrowth of the prostate. Human prostate epithelial cells contain specific 2-¹²⁵I-melatonin binding sites that are involved in controlling cell growth and viability (Laudon et al., 1996; Gilad et al., 1996). These receptors enhance cAMP through pertussis toxin and inhibit cGMP through cholera toxin sensitive G proteins (Gilad et al., 1998b). MT₁ receptors have been localized in androgen sensitive LNCaP cells, a cell line whose growth is inhibited by melatonin, thus suggesting that the MT₁ expression is involved in the antitumor activity of melatonin (Lupowitz and Zisapel, 1999; Xi et al., 2001).

Melatonin receptors are also expressed in the androgenindependent PC3 human prostate carcinoma cells (Gilad et al., 1999). It has been suggested that the mechanism for melatonin's oncostatic action in inhibiting androgen induced prostate cell growth might be its ability to dislocate androgen receptors from the nucleus to the cytoplasm of prostate epithelial cells (Rimler et al., 2001, 2002a,b). This process is mediated via a Gi protein, an increase in cGMP, calcium entry and activation of PKC alpha subtype (Lupowitz et al., 2001; Sampson et al., 2006; Rimler et al., 2007). Activation of PKC alpha in the cells mediates intracellular trafficking of RGS10 and RGS4 proteins (Rimler et al., 2006, 2007) and inactivates melatonin receptors in human prostate epithelial cells (Gilad et al., 1997a). PKC activation and RGS proteins mobilization may underlie the unique ability of melatonin to affect multiple G proteins in cells. In this respect, it is interesting to note that knock-down of RGS4 in CHO cells expressing the human MT₁ melatonin receptor prevents melatonin-induced receptor desensitization (Witt-Enderby et al., 2004).

The MT₁ receptor was identified in prostate cancer patients and treatment with melatonin induced stabilization of this hormone-refractory disease (Shiu et al., 2003). The melatonin-mediated inhibition of androgen receptor mediated cancer cell growth may

explain the efficacy of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) analogue plus melatonin in metastatic prostate cancer patients progressing on GnRH analogue alone (Lissoni et al., 1997).

11. Conclusions

Evidence obtained from a number of studies indicates that melatonin exerts its physiological action in many areas of the CNS, such as the SCN, hippocampus, dopaminergic pathways, prefrontal cortex and cerebellum, by acting through G protein coupled membrane MT₁ or MT₂ receptors. MT₁ and MT₂ receptors in the SCN and hippocampus and melatonin's physiological activities in these areas implicate these receptors in the regulation of sleep and circadian rhythms and perhaps memory consolidation. The alteration in expression of either MT₁ or MT₂ receptors in the brain of patients suffering from AD may be related to the pathogenesis of this neurodegenerative disease, but the hypothesis requires further confirmation by clinical and physiological studies. While melatonin receptor-mediated cAMP action in the mesolimbic dopaminergic system suggests that melatonin can be involved in the regulation of addictive behaviors, the physiopathological significance of melatonin receptors in parkinsonism and depressive disorders is still under investigation.

In the eye, MT_1 receptors are involved in phototransduction. The wide distribution of functional melatonin receptors in the eye points to a melatonin role in ocular growth and aqueous humor secretion, the latter action being of importance for glaucoma.

Melatonin receptors (both MT_1 and MT_2) have been demonstrated in the human coronary arteries of healthy human subjects and patients suffering from coronary heart disease. Additionally they have been found in peripheral blood vessels, presumably mediating the effectiveness of melatonin for lowering blood pressure in humans.

In MCF-7 breast cancer cells, MT_1 and MT_2 receptors and $ROR \alpha$ mediate melatonin's direct oncostatic effects, which are complemented by the immunomodulatory and antioxidant effects melatonin has in vivo. An oncostatic role of melatonin receptors in prostate cancer has also been proposed. Melatonin inhibits androgen receptor mediated effects through its exclusion from the cell nucleus.

In the immune system, membrane and nuclear melatonin receptors are all involved in the modulation of cell and humoral immunity. Melatonin's action in enhancing IL-2 and inflammatory cytokines production from lympho-monocytes through melatonin receptors is one of the mechanisms through which melatonin exerts its oncostatic action.

The distribution of melatoninergic receptors in the human skin has a protective role for the skin and there is some evidence to indicate that melatonin receptors are involved in controlling melanoma growth and the hair cycle.

The plethora of melatonin effects are mediated in part by G proteins coupled to melatonin receptors, but other G proteins and their downstream effectors may be linked to the effects of melatonin on the intracellular localization of RGS4 and RGS10 proteins, through the melatonin-mediated activation of PKC- α . These findings, which have been derived from both in vitro and physiological studies, provide preliminary support for the hypothesis that melatonin receptors may play a role in the regulation of many physiological processes in the organism. Other evidence has suggested that dysfunction of the melatoninergic system can facilitate the development of a number of adult onset diseases including CRSD, AD and Parkinson disease, glaucoma, depressive disorder, breast and prostate cancer, hepatoma, melanoma and hypertension. While the available evidence is suggestive that melatonin can prevent or ameliorate some symptoms of these

diseases, this inference remains to be confirmed in further animal and clinical studies.

References

- Abrial, C., Kwiatkowski, F., Chevrier, R., Gachon, F., Cure, H., Chollet, P., 2005. Therapeutic potential of melatonin in cancer treatment. Pathol. Biol. (Paris) 53, 265–268.
- Al Ghoul, W.M., Herman, M.D., Dubocovich, M.L., 1998. Melatonin receptor subtype expression in human cerebellum. Neuroreport 9, 4063–4068.
- Anis, Y., Nir, I., Zisapel, N., 1989. Diurnal variations in melatonin binding sites in the hamster brain: impact of melatonin. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 67, 121–129.
- Anisimov, V.N., Popovich, I.G., Zabezhinski, M.A., Anisimov, S.V., Vesnushkin, G.M., Vinogradova, I.A., 2006. Melatonin as antioxidant, geroprotector and anticarcinogen. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1757, 573–589.
- Arangino, S., Cagnacci, A., Angiolucci, M., Vacca, A.M., Longu, G., Volpe, A., Melis, G.B., 1999. Effects of melatonin on vascular reactivity, catecholamine levels, and blood pressure in healthy men. Am. J. Cardiol. 83, 1417–1419.
- Arendt, J., 2006. Melatonin and human rhythms. Chronobiol. Int. 23, 21–37.
- Arendt, J., Skene, D.J., 2005. Melatonin as a chronobiotic. Sleep Med. Rev. 9, 25–39. Armitage, R., Hoffmann, R.F., 2001. Sleep EEG, depression and gender. Sleep Med. Rev. 5, 237–246.
- Asayama, K., Yamadera, H., Ito, T., Suzuki, H., Kudo, Y., Endo, S., 2003. Double blind study of melatonin effects on the sleep-wake rhythm, cognitive and noncognitive functions in Alzheimer type dementia. J. Nippon Med. Sch. 70, 334-341.
- Aust, S., Thalhammer, T., Humpeler, S., Jager, W., Klimpfinger, M., Tucek, G., Obrist, P., Marktl, W., Penner, E., Ekmekcioglu, C., 2004. The melatonin receptor subtype MT₁ is expressed in human gallbladder epithelia. J. Pineal Res. 36, 43–48.
- Axelrod, J., Wurtman, R.J., 1968. Photic and neural control of indoleamine metabolism in the rat pineal gland. Adv. Pharmacol. 6, 157–166.
- Bartsch, C., Bartsch, H., 1999. Melatonin in cancer patients and in tumor-bearing animals. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 467, 247–264.
- Bartsch, C., Bartsch, H., 2006. The anti-tumor activity of pineal melatonin and cancer enhancing life styles in industrialized societies. Cancer Causes Control 17, 559–571
- Bartsch, C., Bartsch, H., Jain, A.K., Laumas, K.R., Wetterberg, L., 1981. Urinary melatonin levels in human breast cancer patients. J. Neural Transm. 52, 281–294.
- Bartsch, C., Bartsch, H., Karenovics, A., Franz, H., Peiker, G., Mecke, D., 2000a. Analysis of melatonin in patients with cancer of the reproductive system. In: Bartsch, C., Bartsch, H., Blask, D., Cardinali, D.P., Hrushesky, W., Mecke, D. (Eds.), The Pineal Gland and Cancer. Springer, Heidelberg, pp. 153–176.
- Bartsch, H., Buchberger, A., Franz, H., Bartsch, C., Maidonis, I., Mecke, D., Bayer, E., 2000b. Effect of melatonin and pineal extracts on human ovarian and mammary tumor cells in a chemosensitivity assay. Life Sci. 67, 2953–2960.
- Becker-Andre, M., Andre, E., DeLamarter, J.F., 1993. Identification of nuclear receptor mRNAs by RT-PCR amplification of conserved zinc-finger motif sequences. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 194, 1371–1379.
- Becker-Andre, M., Wiesenberg, I., Schaeren-Wiemers, N., Andre, E., Missbach, M., Saurat, J.H., Carlberg, C., 1994. Pineal gland hormone melatonin binds and activates an orphan of the nuclear receptor superfamily. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 28531–28534.
- Benitez-King, G., 2006. Melatonin as a cytoskeletal modulator: implications for cell physiology and disease. J. Pineal Res. 40, 1–9.
- Benitez-King, G., Anton-Tay, F., 1993. Calmodulin mediates melatonin cytoskeletal effects. Experientia 49, 635–641.
- Bernard, M., Donohue, S.J., Klein, D.C., 1995. Human hydroxyindole-O-methyltransferase in pineal gland, retina and Y79 retinoblastoma cells. Brain Res. 696, 37-48.
- Bernard, M., Guerlotte, J., Greve, P., Grechez-Cassiau, A., Iuvone, M.P., Zatz, M., Chong, N.W., Klein, D.C., Voisin, P., 1999. Melatonin synthesis pathway: circadian regulation of the genes encoding the key enzymes in the chicken pineal gland and retina. Reprod. Nutr. Dev. 39, 325–334.
- Berson, D.M., Dunn, F.A., Takao, M., 2002. Phototransduction by retinal ganglion cells that set the circadian clock. Science 295, 1070–1073.
- Blask, D.E., Brainard, G.C., Dauchy, R.T., Hanifin, J.P., Davidson, L.K., Krause, J.A., Sauer, L.A., Rivera-Bermudez, M.A., Dubocovich, M.L., Jasser, S.A., Lynch, D.T., Rollag, M.D., Zalatan, F., 2005a. Melatonin-depleted blood from premenopausal women exposed to light at night stimulates growth of human breast cancer xenografts in nude rats. Cancer Res. 65, 11174–11184.
- Blask, D.E., Dauchy, R.T., Sauer, L.A., 2005b. Putting cancer to sleep at night: the neuroendocrine/circadian melatonin signal. Endocrine 27, 179–188.
- Blask, D.E., Sauer, L.A., Dauchy, R.T., 2002. Melatonin as a chronobiotic/anticancer agent: cellular, biochemical, and molecular mechanisms of action and their implications for circadian-based cancer therapy. Curr. Top. Med. Chem. 2, 113– 132
- Blask, D.E., Sauer, L.A., Dauchy, R.T., Holowachuk, E.W., Ruhoff, M.S., Kopff, H.S., 1999. Melatonin inhibition of cancer growth in vivo involves suppression of tumor fatty acid metabolism via melatonin receptor-mediated signal transduction events. Cancer Res. 59, 4693–4701.
- Boutin, J.A., Audinot, V., Ferry, G., Delagrange, P., 2005. Molecular tools to study melatonin pathways and actions. Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 26, 412–419.

- Brown, T.M., Piggins, H.D., 2007. Electrophysiology of the suprachiasmatic circadian clock, Prog. Neurobiol. 82, 229-255.
- Brugger, P., Marktl, W., Herold, M., 1995. Impaired nocturnal secretion of melatonin in coronary heart disease. Lancet 345, 1408.
- Brunner, P., Sozer-Topcular, N., Jockers, R., Ravid, R., Angeloni, D., Fraschini, F., Eckert, A., Muller-Spahn, F., Savaskan, E., 2006. Pineal and cortical melatonin receptors MT₁ and MT₂ are decreased in Alzheimer's disease. Euro. J. Histochem. 50. 311-316.
- Brusco, L.I., Marquez, M., Cardinali, D.P., 1998a. Melatonin treatment stabilizes chronobiologic and cognitive symptoms in Alzheimer's disease. Neuroendocrinol. Lett. 19, 111-115.
- Brusco, L.I., Marquez, M., Cardinali, D.P., 1998b. Monozygotic twins with Alzheimer's disease treated with melatonin: case report. J. Pineal Res. 25, 260-263.
- Brydon, L., Roka, F., Petit, L., de Coppet, P., Tissot, M., Barrett, P., Morgan, P.J., Nanoff, C., Strosberg, A.D., Jockers, R., 1999. Dual signaling of human Mel_{1a} melatonin receptors via G_{i2} , G_{i3} , and $G_{0/11}$ proteins. Mol. Endocrinol. 13, 2025–2038.
- Brzezinski, A., Seibel, M.M., Lynch, H.J., Deng, M.H., Wurtman, R.J., 1987. Melatonin in human preovulatory follicular fluid. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 64, 865-867.
- Bubenik, G.A., 2002. Gastrointestinal melatonin: localization, function, and clinical relevance. Dig. Dis. Sci. 47, 2336-2348.
- Bubis, M., Zisapel, N., 1998. A role for NAD+ and cADP-ribose in melatonin signal transduction. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 137, 59–67.
- Bubis, M., Zisapel, N., 1999. Involvement of cGMP in cellular melatonin responses. Biol. Cell 91, 45-49.
- Buijs, R.M., Hermes, M.H., Kalsbeek, A., 1998. The suprachiasmatic nucleus-paraventricular nucleus interactions: a bridge to the neuroendocrine and autonomic nervous system. Prog. Brain Res. 119, 365-382.
- Burgess, H.J., Sharkey, K.M., Eastman, C.I., 2002. Bright light, dark and melatonin can promote circadian adaptation in night shift workers. Sleep Med. Rev. 6, 407-420.
- Burns, L.J., Weisdorf, D.J., DeFor, T.E., Vesole, D.H., Repka, T.L., Blazar, B.R., Burger, S.R., Panoskaltsis-Mortari, A., Keever-Taylor, C.A., Zhang, M.J., Miller, J.S., 2003. IL-2-based immunotherapy after autologous transplantation for lymphoma and breast cancer induces immune activation and cytokine release; a phase I/II trial. Bone Marrow Transplant, 32, 177-186.
- Cagnacci, A., Arangino, S., Angiolucci, M., Melis, G.B., Facchinetti, F., Malmusi, S., Volpe, A., 2001. Effect of exogenous melatonin on vascular reactivity and nitric oxide in postmenopausal women; role of hormone replacement therapy. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf.) 54, 261-266.
- Cardinali, D.P., Freire, F., 1975. Melatonin effects on brain. Interaction with microtubule protein, inhibition of fast axoplasmic flow and induction of crystaloid and tubular formations in the hypothalamus. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 2, 317–330.
- Cardinali, D.P., Furio, A.M., Reyes, M.P., Brusco, L.I., 2006. The use of chronobiotics in the resynchronization of the sleep-wake cycle. Cancer Causes Control 17, 601-609.
- Cardinali, D.P., Pevet, P., 1998. Basic aspects of melatonin action. Sleep Med. Rev. 2, 175-190
- Cardinali, D.P., Rosner, J.M., 1971a. Metabolism of serotonin by the rat retina "in
- vitro". J. Neurochem. 18, 1769–1770. Cardinali, D.P., Rosner, J.M., 1971b. Retinal localization of hydroxyindole-O-methyl transferase (HIOMT) in the rat. Endocrinology 89, 301-303.
- Cardinali, D.P., Vacas, M.I., 1980. Molecular endocrinology of melaton: receptor sites in brain and peripheral organs. In: Birau, N., Schlott, W. (Eds.), Melatonin. Current Status and Perspectives. Pergamon, London, pp. 237-246.
- Carrillo-Vico, A., Calvo, J.R., Abreu, P., Lardone, P.J., Garcia-Maurino, S., Reiter, R.J., Guerrero, J.M., 2004. Evidence of melatonin synthesis by human lymphocytes and its physiological significance: possible role as intracrine, autocrine, and/or paracrine substance. FASEB J. 18, 537-539.
- Carrillo-Vico, A., Garcia-Perganeda, A., Naji, L., Calvo, J.R., Romero, M.P., Guerrero, J.M., 2003. Expression of membrane and nuclear melatonin receptor mRNA and protein in the mouse immune system. Cell Mol. Life Sci. 60, 2272-2278.
- Carrillo-Vico, A., Lardone, P.J., Fernandez-Santos, J.M., Martin-Lacave, I., Calvo, J.R., Karasek, M., Guerrero, J.M., 2005. Human lymphocyte-synthesized melatonin is involved in the regulation of the interleukin-2/interleukin-2 receptor system. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 90, 992-1000.
- Carrillo-Vico, A., Reiter, R.J., Lardone, P.J., Herrera, J.L., Fernandez-Montesinos, R., Guerrero, J.M., Pozo, D., 2006. The modulatory role of melatonin on immune responsiveness. Curr. Opin. Investig. Drugs 7, 423-431.
- Cavallo, A., 1992. Melatonin secretion during adrenarche in normal human puberty and in pubertal disorders. J. Pineal Res. 12, 71-78.
- Cavallo, A., Daniels, S.R., Dolan, L.M., Khoury, J.C., Bean, J.A., 2004. Blood pressure response to melatonin in type 1 diabetes. Pediatr. Diabetes 5, 26-31.
- Cerea, G., Vaghi, M., Ardizzoia, A., Villa, S., Bucovec, R., Mengo, S., Gardani, G., Tancini, G., Lissoni, P., 2003. Biomodulation of cancer chemotherapy for metastatic colorectal cancer: a randomized study of weekly low-dose irinotecan alone versus irinotecan plus the oncostatic pineal hormone melatonin in metastatic colorectal cancer patients progressing on 5-fluorouracil-containing combinations. Anticancer Res. 23, 1951-1954.
- Chan, A.S., Lai, F.P., Lo, R.K., Voyno-Yasenetskaya, T.A., Stanbridge, E.J., Wong, Y.H., 2002. Melatonin MT₁ and MT₂ receptors stimulate c-Jun N-terminal kinase via pertussis toxin-sensitive and -insensitive G proteins. Cell Signal. 14, 249-257.
- Chan, H.C., Lui, K.M., Wong, W.S., Poon, A.M., 1998. Effect of melatonin on chloride secretion by human colonic T84 cells. Life Sci. 62, 2151-2158.
- Claustrat, B., Brun, J., Chazot, G., 2005. The basic physiology and pathophysiology of melatonin. Sleep Med. Rev. 9, 11-24.

- Clemens, J.W., Jarzynka, M.J., Witt-Enderby, P.A., 2001. Down-regulation of MT₁ melatonin receptors in rat ovary following estrogen exposure. Life Sci. 69, 27-35.
- Commentz, J.C., Uhlig, H., Henke, A., Hellwege, H.H., Willig, R.P., 1997. Melatonin and 6-hydroxymelatonin sulfate excretion is inversely correlated with gonadal development in children. Horm. Res. 47, 97-101.
- Conti, A., Conconi, S., Hertens, E., Skwarlo-Sonta, K., Markowska, M., Maestroni, J.M., 2000. Evidence for melatonin synthesis in mouse and human bone marrow cells. J. Pineal Res. 28, 193-202.
- Coon, S.L., Del Olmo, E., Young III, W.S., Klein, D.C., 2002. Melatonin synthesis enzymes in Macaca mulatta: focus on arylalkylamine N-acetyltransferase (EC 2.3.1.87). J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 87, 4699–4706.
- Cos, S., Blask, D.E., Lemus-Wilson, A., Hill, A.B., 1991. Effects of melatonin on the cell cycle kinetics and "estrogen-rescue" of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells in culture. J. Pineal Res. 10, 36-42.
- Cos, S., Fernandez, R., Guezmes, A., Sanchez-Barcelo, E.J., 1998. Influence of melatonin on invasive and metastatic properties of MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res. 58, 4383-4390.
- da Silva, C.J., Miranda, Y., Austin-Brown, N., Hsu, J., Mathison, J., Xiang, R., Zhou, H., Li, Q., Han, J., Ulevitch, R.J., 2006. Nod1-dependent control of tumor growth. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 103, 1840–1845.
- Dahlitz, M., Alvarez, B., Vignau, J., English, J., Arendt, J., Parkes, J.D., 1991. Delayed sleep phase syndrome response to melatonin. Lancet 337, 1121-1124.
- Delagrange, P., Boutin, J.A., 2006. Therapeutic potential of melatonin ligands. Chronobiol. Int. 23, 413-418.
- Dijk, D.J., Cajochen, C., 1997. Melatonin and the circadian regulation of sleep initiation, consolidation, structure, and the sleep EEG. J. Biol. Rhythms 12, 627-635.
- Dijk, D.J., von Schantz, M., 2005. Timing and consolidation of human sleep, wakefulness, and performance by a symphony of oscillators. J. Biol. Rhythms 20, 279-290.
- Dolberg, O.T., Hirschmann, S., Grunhaus, L., 1998. Melatonin for the treatment of sleep disturbances in major depressive disorder. Am. J. Psychiatry 155, 1119-1121.
- Dollins, A.B., Zhdanova, I.V., Wurtman, R.J., Lynch, H.J., Deng, M.H., 1994. Effect of inducing nocturnal serum melatonin concentrations in daytime on sleep, mood, body temperature, and performance. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 91, 1824–1828.
- Dowling, G.A., Mastick, J., Colling, E., Carter, J.H., Singer, C.M., Aminoff, M.J., 2005. Melatonin for sleep disturbances in Parkinson's disease. Sleep Med. 6, 459–466.
- Drazen, D.L., Bilu, D., Bilbo, S.D., Nelson, R.J., 2001. Melatonin enhancement of splenocyte proliferation is attenuated by luzindole, a melatonin receptor antagonist. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 280, R1476–R1482.
- Drazen, D.L., Nelson, R.J., 2001. Melatonin receptor subtype MT₂ (Mel 1b) and not MT₁ (Mel 1a) is associated with melatonin-induced enhancement of cellmediated and humoral immunity. Neuroendocrinology 74, 178-184.
- Dubocovich, M.L., 1983. Melatonin is a potent modulator of dopamine release in the retina. Nature 306, 782-784.
- Dubocovich, M.L., 1984. *N*-acetyltryptamine antagonizes the melatonin-induced inhibition of [³H]dopamine release from retina. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 105, 193–194.
- Dubocovich, M.L., 2006. Agomelatine targets a range of major depressive disorder symptoms. Curr. Opin. Investig. Drugs 7, 670-680.
- Dubocovich, M.L., Cardinali, D.P., Delagrange, P., Krause, D.N., Strosberg, D., Sugden, D., Yocca, F.D., 2000. Melatonin receptors. In: IUPHAR (Eds.), The IUPHAR Compendium of Receptor Characterization and Classification. 2nd ed. IUPHAR Media, London, pp. 271-277.
- Dubocovich, M.L., Markowska, M., 2005. Functional MT₁ and MT₂ melatonin receptors in mammals. Endocrine 27, 101-110.
- Ekmekcioglu, C., Haslmayer, P., Philipp, C., Mehrabi, M.R., Glogar, H.D., Grimm, M., Leibetseder, V.J., Thalhammer, T., Marktl, W., 2001a. Expression of the MT₁ melatonin receptor subtype in human coronary arteries. J. Recept. Signal. Transduct. Res. 21, 85-91.
- Ekmekcioglu, C., Haslmayer, P., Philipp, C., Mehrabi, M.R., Glogar, H.D., Grimm, M., Thalhammer, T., Marktl, W., 2001b. 24 h variation in the expression of the MT₁ melatonin receptor subtype in coronary arteries derived from patients with coronary heart disease. Chronobiol. Int. 18, 973-985.
- Ekmekcioglu, C., Thalhammer, T., Humpeler, S., Mehrabi, M.R., Glogar, H.D., Holzenbein, T., Markovic, O., Leibetseder, V.J., Strauss-Blasche, G., Marktl, W., 2003. The melatonin receptor subtype MT₂ is present in the human cardiovascular system. J. Pineal. Res. 35, 40-44.
- Ersahin, C., Masana, M.I., Dubocovich, M.L., 2002. Constitutively active melatonin MT₁ receptors in male rat caudal arteries. Eur. J. Pharmacol. 439, 171–172.
- Exposito, I., Mora, F., Zisapel, N., Oaknin, S., 1995. The modulatory effect of melatonin on the dopamine-glutamate interaction in the anterior hypothalamus during ageing. Neuroreport 6, 2399-2403.
- Fainstein, I., Bonetto, A., Brusco, L.I., Cardinali, D.P., 1997. Effects of melatonin in elderly patients with sleep disturbance. A pilot study. Curr. Ther. Res. 58, 990-1000.
- Farriol, M., Venereo, Y., Orta, X., Castellanos, J.M., Segovia-Silvestre, T., 2000. In vitro effects of melatonin on cell proliferation in a colon adenocarcinoma line. J. Appl. Toxicol. 20, 21-24.
- Ferini-Strambi, L., Oldani, A., Zucconi, M., Stankov, B., Castronovo, C., Fraschini, F., Smirne, S., 1995. Triazolam and melatonin effects on cardiac autonomic function during sleep. Clin. Neuropharmacol. 18, 405-409.
- Folkard, S., Arendt, J., Clark, M., 1993. Can melatonin improve shift workers' tolerance of the night shift? Some preliminary findings. Chronobiol. Int. 10, 315-320.

- Fraschini, F., Cesarani, A., Alpini, D., Esposti, D., Stankov, B.M., 1999. Melatonin influences human balance. Biol. Signals Recept. 8, 111-119.
- Frungieri, M.B., Mayerhofer, A., Zitta, K., Pignataro, O.P., Calandra, R.S., Gonzalez-Calvar, S.I., 2005. Direct effect of melatonin on Syrian hamster testes: melatonin subtype 1a receptors, inhibition of androgen production, and interaction with the local corticotropin-releasing hormone system. Endocrinology 146, 1541-
- Fujieda, H., Hamadanizadeh, S.A., Wankiewicz, E., Pang, S.F., Brown, G.M., 1999. Expression of MT₁ melatonin receptor in rat retina: evidence for multiple cell targets for melatonin. Neuroscience 93, 793-799.
- Fujieda, H., Scher, J., Hamadanizadeh, S.A., Wankiewicz, E., Pang, S.F., Brown, G.M., 2000. Dopaminergic and GABAergic amacrine cells are direct targets of melatonin: immunocytochemical study of MT₁ melatonin receptor in guinea pig retina. Vis. Neurosci. 17, 63-70.
- Furio, A.M., Brusco, L.I., Cardinali, D.P., 2007. Possible therapeutic value of melatonin in mild cognitive impairment. A retrospective study. J. Pineal Res. 43, 404-409.
- Futagami, M., Sato, S., Sakamoto, T., Yokoyama, Y., Saito, Y., 2001. Effects of melatonin on the proliferation and cis-diamminedichloroplatinum (CDDP) sensitivity of cultured human ovarian cancer cells. Gynecol. Oncol. 82, 544-549.
- Ganguly, S., Weller, J.L., Ho, A., Chemineau, P., Malpaux, B., Klein, D.C., 2005. Melatonin synthesis: 14-3-3-dependent activation and inhibition of arylalkylamine N-acetyltransferase mediated by phosphoserine-205. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 102, 1222-1227.
- Garcia-Maurino, S., Pozo, D., Calvo, J.R., Guerrero, J.M., 2000. Correlation between nuclear melatonin receptor expression and enhanced cytokine production in human lymphocytic and monocytic cell lines. J. Pineal Res. 29, 129-137
- Garfinkel, D., Laudon, M., Nof, D., Zisapel, N., 1995. Improvement of sleep quality in elderly people by controlled-release melatonin. Lancet 346, 541–544.
- Garfinkel, D., Laudon, M., Zisapel, N., 1997. Improvement of sleep quality by controlled-release melatonin in benzodiazepine-treated elderly insomniacs. Arch. Gerontol. Geriatr. 24, 223-231.
- Garfinkel, D., Zisapel, N., Wainstein, I., Laudon, M., 1999. Facilitation of benzodiazepine discontinuation by melatonin: a new clinical approach. Arch. Intern. Med. 159, 2456-2460.
- Gastel, J.A., Roseboom, P.H., Rinaldi, P.A., Weller, J.L., Klein, D.C., 1998. Melatonin production: proteasomal proteolysis in serotonin N-acetyltransferase regulation. Science 279, 1358-1360.
- Gauer, F., Masson-Pevet, M., Pevet, P., 1992. Pinealectomy and constant illumination increase the density of melatonin binding sites in the pars tuberalis of rodents. Brain Res. 575, 32-38.
- Gauer, F., Masson-Pevet, M., Skene, D.J., Vivien-Roels, B., Pevet, P., 1993. Daily rhythms of melatonin binding sites in the rat pars tuberalis and suprachiasmatic nuclei; evidence for a regulation of melatonin receptors by melatonin itself. Neuroendocrinology 57, 120-126.
- Geary, G.G., Duckles, S.P., Krause, D.N., 1998. Effect of melatonin in the rat tail artery: role of K+ channels and endothelial factors. Br. J. Pharmacol. 123, 1533-1540
- Geary, G.G., Krause, D.N., Duckles, S.P., 1997. Melatonin directly constricts rat cerebral arteries through modulation of potassium channels. Am. J. Physiol. 273. H1530-H1536.
- Gerdin, M.J., Masana, M.I., Dubocovich, M.L., 2004a. Melatonin-mediated regulation of human MT₁ melatonin receptors expressed in mammalian cells. Biochem. Pharmacol. 67, 2023-2030.
- Gerdin, M.J., Masana, M.I., Ren, D., Miller, R.J., Dubocovich, M.L., 2003. Short-term exposure to melatonin differentially affects the functional sensitivity and trafficking of the hMT₁ and hMT₂ melatonin receptors. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 304, 931-939.
- Gerdin, M.J., Masana, M.I., Rivera-Bermudez, M.A., Hudson, R.L., Earnest, D.J., Gillette, M.U., Dubocovich, M.L., 2004b. Melatonin desensitizes endogenous MT2 melatonin receptors in the rat suprachiasmatic nucleus: relevance for defining the periods of sensitivity of the mammalian circadian clock to melatonin, FASEB I. 18, 1646-1656.
- Gilad, E., Laudon, M., Matzkin, H., Pick, E., Sofer, M., Braf, Z., Zisapel, N., 1996. Functional melatonin receptors in human prostate epithelial cells. Endocrinology 137, 1412-1417.
- Gilad, E., Laudon, M., Matzkin, H., Zisapel, N., 1998a. Evidence for a local action of melatonin on the rat prostate. J. Urol. 159, 1069-1073.
- Gilad, E., Laufer, M., Matzkin, H., Zisapel, N., 1999. Melatonin receptors in PC3 human prostate tumor cells. J. Pineal Res. 26, 211-220.
- Gilad, E., Matzkin, H., Zisapel, N., 1997a. Inactivation of melatonin receptors by protein kinase C in human prostate epithelial cells. Endocrinology 138, 4255-
- Gilad, E., Matzkin, H., Zisapel, N., 1997b. Interplay between sex steroids and melatonin in regulation of human benign prostate epithelial cell growth. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 82, 2535-2541.
- Gilad, E., Pick, E., Matzkin, H., Zisapel, N., 1998b. Melatonin receptors in benign prostate epithelial cells: evidence for the involvement of cholera and pertussis toxins-sensitive G proteins in their signal transduction pathways. Prostate 35, 27-34.
- Gillette, M.U., Tischkau, S.A., 1999. Suprachiasmatic nucleus: the brain's circadian clock. Recent Prog. Horm. Res. 54, 33-58.
- Girotti, L., Lago, M., Ianovsky, O., Carbajales, J., Elizari, M.V., Brusco, L.I., Cardinali, D.P., 2000. Low urinary 6-sulphatoxymelatonin levels in patients with coronary artery disease. J. Pineal Res. 29, 138-142.

- Girotti, L., Lago, M., Ianovsky, O., Elizari, M.V., Dini, A., Lloret, S.P., Albornoz, L.E., Cardinali, D.P., 2003. Low urinary 6-sulfatoxymelatonin levels in patients with severe congestive heart failure. Endocrine 22, 245-248.
- Godson, C., Reppert, S.M., 1997. The Mel1a melatonin receptor is coupled to parallel signal transduction pathways. Endocrinology 138, 397-404.
- Gorfine, T., Assaf, Y., Goshen-Gottstein, Y., Yeshurun, Y., Zisapel, N., 2006. Sleepanticipating effects of melatonin in the human brain. Neuroimage 31, 410-418.
- Gorfine, T., Yeshurun, Y., Zisapel, N., 2007. Nap and melatonin-induced changes in hippocampal activation and their role in verbal memory consolidation. J. Pineal Res. 43, 336-342.
- Gorfine, T., Zisapel, N., 2007. Melatonin and the human hippocampus, a time dependant interplay. J. Pineal Res. 43, 80-86.
- Gravis, G., Viens, P., Vey, N., Blaise, D., Stoppa, A.M., Olive, D., Maraninchi, D., 2000. Pilot study of immunotherapy with interleukin-2 after autologous stem cell transplantation in advanced breast cancers. Anticancer Res. 20, 3987–3991.
- Grossman, E., Laudon, M., Yalcin, R., Zengil, H., Peleg, E., Sharabi, Y., Kamari, Y., Shen-Orr, Z., Zisapel, N., 2006. Melatonin reduces night blood pressure in patients with nocturnal hypertension. Am. J. Med. 119, 898-902.
- Guerrero, H.Y., Gauer, F., Pevet, P., Masson-Pevet, M., 1999. Daily and circadian expression patterns of MT₁ melatonin receptor mRNA in the rat pars tuberalis. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 460, 175-179.
- Hagan, R.M., Oakley, N.R., 1995. Melatonin comes of age? Trends Pharmacol. Sci. 16, 81-83.
- Haimov, I., Laudon, M., Zisapel, N., Souroujon, M., Nof, D., Shlitner, A., Herer, P., Tzischinsky, O., Lavie, P., 1994. Sleep disorders and melatonin rhythms in elderly people, BMJ 309, 167.
- Haimov, I., Lavie, P., Laudon, M., Herer, P., Vigder, C., Zisapel, N., 1995. Melatonin replacement therapy of elderly insomniacs. Sleep 18, 598-603.
- Hampson, E.C., Vaney, D.I., Weiler, R., 1992. Dopaminergic modulation of gap junction permeability between amacrine cells in mammalian retina. J. Neurosci. 12, 4911–4922.
- Hardeland, R., 2005. Antioxidative protection by melatonin: multiplicity of mechanisms from radical detoxification to radical avoidance. Endocrine 27, 119-130.
- Hardeland, R., Reiter, R.J., Poeggeler, B., Tan, D.X., 1993. The significance of the metabolism of the neurohormone melatonin; antioxidative protection and formation of bioactive substances, Neurosci, Biobehay, Rev. 17, 347-357.
- Hazlerigg, D.G., Gonzalez-Brito, A., Lawson, W., Hastings, M.H., Morgan, P.I., 1993, Prolonged exposure to melatonin leads to time-dependent sensitization of adenylate cyclase and down-regulates melatonin receptors in pars tuberalis cells from ovine pituitary. Endocrinology 132, 285–292. Herxheimer, A., 2005. Jet lag. Clin. Evid. 2178–2183. Hill, S.M., Blask, D.E., 1988. Effects of the pineal hormone melatonin on the
- proliferation and morphological characteristics of human breast cancer cells (MCF-7) in culture. Cancer Res. 48, 6121–6126. Hirata, F., Hayaishi, O., Tokuyama, T., Seno, S., 1974. In vitro and in vivo formation of
- two new metabolites of melatonin. J. Biol. Chem. 249, 1311-1313.
- Ho, A.K., Klein, D.C., 1987. Activation of alpha 1-adrenoceptors, protein kinase C, or treatment with intracellular free Ca²⁺ elevating agents increases pineal phospholipase A_2 activity. Evidence that protein kinase C may participate in Ca^{2+} dependent alpha 1-adrenergic stimulation of pineal phospholipase A2 activity. J. Biol. Chem. 262, 11764-11770.
- Ho, M.K., Yung, L.Y., Chan, J.S., Chan, J.H., Wong, C.S., Wong, Y.H., 2001. Galpha₁₄ links a variety of Gi- and Gs-coupled receptors to the stimulation of phospholipase C. Br. J. Pharmacol. 132, 1431-1440.
- Hu, D.N., McCormick, S.A., Roberts, J.E., 1998. Effects of melatonin, its precursors and derivatives on the growth of cultured human uveal melanoma cells. Melanoma Res. 8, 205-210.
- Huber, R., Deboer, T., Schwierin, B., Tobler, I., 1998. Effect of melatonin on sleep and brain temperature in the Djungarian hamster and the rat. Physiol. Behav. 65,
- Hunt, A.E., Al Ghoul, W.M., Gillette, M.U., Dubocovich, M.L., 2001. Activation of MT_2 melatonin receptors in rat suprachiasmatic nucleus phase advances the circadian clock. Am. J. Physiol. Cell. Physiol. 280, C110-C118.
- Imbesi, M., Uz, T., Yildiz, S., Arslan, A.D., Manev, H., 2006. Drug and region-specific effects of protracted antidepressant and cocaine treatment on the content of melatonin MT₁ and MT₂ receptor mRNA in the mouse brain. Int. J. Neuroprotect. Neurogen. 2 (3), 185-189.
- Iuvone, P.M., Brown, A.D., Haque, R., Weller, J., Zawilska, J.B., Chaurasia, S.S., Ma, M., Klein, D.C., 2002. Retinal melatonin production: role of proteasomal proteolysis in circadian and photic control of arylalkylamine N-acetyltransferase. Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 43, 564-572.
- Iuvone, P.M., Gan, J., 1995. Functional interaction of melatonin receptors and D₁ dopamine receptors in cultured chick retinal neurons. J. Neurosci. 15, 2179-
- Jaliffa, C.O., Lacoste, F.F., Llomovatte, D.W., Sarmiento, M.I., Rosenstein, R.E., 2000. Dopamine decreases melatonin content in golden hamster retina. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 293, 91-95.
- Jarzynka, M.J., Passey, D.K., Ignatius, P.F., Melan, M.A., Radio, N.M., Jockers, R., Rasenick, M.M., Brydon, L., Witt-Enderby, P.A., 2006. Modulation of melatonin receptors and G-protein function by microtubules. J. Pineal Res. 41, 324-336.
- Jaworek, J., Konturek, S.J., Leja-Szpak, A., Nawrot, K., Bonior, J., Tomaszewska, R., Stachura, J., Pawlik, W.W., 2002. Role of endogenous melatonin and its MT2 receptor in the modulation of caerulein-induced pancreatitis in the rat. J. Physiol. Pharmacol. 53, 791-804.

- Jiang, Z.G., Nelson, C.S., Allen, C.N., 1995. Melatonin activates an outward current and inhibits I_h in rat suprachiasmatic nucleus neurons. Brain Res. 687, 125–132
- Jin, X., von Gall, C., Pieschl, R.L., Gribkoff, V.K., Stehle, J.H., Reppert, S.M., Weaver, D.R., 2003. Targeted disruption of the mouse Mel_{1b} melatonin receptor. Mol. Cell Biol. 23, 1054–1060.
- Jonas, M., Garfinkel, D., Zisapel, N., Laudon, M., Grossman, E., 2003. Impaired nocturnal melatonin secretion in non-dipper hypertensive patients. Blood Press. 12, 19–24.
- Jones, M.P., Melan, M.A., Witt-Enderby, P.A., 2000. Melatonin decreases cell proliferation and transformation in a melatonin receptor-dependent manner. Cancer Lett. 151, 133–143.
- Kadekaro, A.L., Andrade, L.N., Floeter-Winter, L.M., Rollag, M.D., Virador, V., Vieira, W., Castrucci, A.M., 2004. MT-1 melatonin receptor expression increases the antiproliferative effect of melatonin on S-91 murine melanoma cells. J. Pineal Res. 36, 204–211.
- Kanikkannan, N., Jackson, T., Shaik, M.S., Singh, M., 2001. Evaluation of skin sensitization potential of melatonin and nimesulide by murine local lymph node assay. Eur. J. Pharm. Sci. 14, 217–220.
- Karasek, M., 2004. Melatonin, human aging, and age-related diseases. Exp. Gerontol. 39, 1723–1729.
- Karasek, M., Kowalski, A.J., Zylinska, K., 2000. Serum melatonin circadian profile in women suffering from the genital tract cancers. Neuroendocrinol. Lett. 21, 109– 113.
- Kerenyi, N.A., Pandula, E., Feuer, G.M., 1990. Oncostatic effects of the pineal gland. Drug Metabol. Drug Interact. 8, 313–319.
- Kilic, E., Kilic, U., Reiter, R.J., Bassetti, C.L., Hermann, D.M., 2004. Prophylactic use of melatonin protects against focal cerebral ischemia in mice: role of endothelin converting enzyme-1. J. Pineal Res. 37, 247–251.
 Kim, B.C., Shon, B.S., Ryoo, Y.W., Kim, S.P., Lee, K.S., 2001. Melatonin reduces X-ray
- Kim, B.C., Shon, B.S., Ryoo, Y.W., Kim, S.P., Lee, K.S., 2001. Melatonin reduces X-ray irradiation-induced oxidative damages in cultured human skin fibroblasts. J. Dermatol. Sci. 26, 194–200.
- Kiratli, H., Gedik, S., Us, D., Bilgic, S., 2003. Serum melatonin levels following enucleation and transpupillary thermotherapy in patients with choroidal melanoma. Clin. Exp. Ophthalmol. 31, 505–508.
- Klein, D.C., Moore, R.Y., 1979. Pineal N-acetyltransferase and hydroxyindole-O-methyltransferase: control by the retinohypothalamic tract and the suprachias-matic nucleus. Brain Res. 174, 245–262.
- Klein, D.C., Weller, J.L., Moore, R.Y., 1971. Melatonin metabolism: neural regulation of pineal serotonin: acetyl coenzyme A N-acetyltransferase activity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 68, 3107–3110.
- Kos-Kudla, B., Ostrowska, Z., Kozlowski, A., Marek, B., Ciesielska-Kopacz, N., Kudla, M., Kajdaniuk, D., Strzelczyk, J., Staszewicz, P., 2002. Circadian rhythm of melatonin in patients with colorectal carcinoma. Neuroendocrinol. Lett. 23, 239–242.
- Krauchi, K., Cajochen, C., Wirz-Justice, A., 1997. A relationship between heat loss and sleepiness: effects of postural change and melatonin administration. J. Appl. Physiol. 83. 134–139.
- Krauchi, K., Wirz-Justice, A., 2001. Circadian clues to sleep onset mechanisms. Neuropsychopharmacology 25, S92–S96.
- Krause, D.N., Dubocovich, M.L., 1990. Regulatory sites in the melatonin system of mammals. Trends Neurosci. 13, 464–470.
- Larson, J., Jessen, R.E., Uz, T., Arslan, A.D., Kurtuncu, M., Imbesi, M., Manev, H., 2006. Impaired hippocampal long-term potentiation in melatonin MT₂ receptor-deficient mice. Neurosci Lett. 393, 23–26.
- Laudon, M., Gilad, E., Matzkin, H., Braf, Z., Zisapel, N., 1996. Putative melatonin receptors in benign human prostate tissue. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 81, 1336– 1342.
- Laudon, M., Nir, I., Zisapel, N., 1988. Melatonin receptors in discrete brain areas of the male rat. Impact of aging on density and on circadian rhythmicity. Neuroendocrinology 48, 577–583.
- Laudon, M., Zisapel, N., 1986. Characterization of central melatonin receptors using 1251-melatonin. FEBS Lett. 197, 9–12.
- Laudon, M., Zisapel, N., 1987. Impact of circulating estradiol on melatonin binding sites in discrete areas of the female rat brain. Brain Res. 402, 146–150.
- Lawson, N.O., Wee, B.E., Blask, D.E., Castles, C.G., Spriggs, L.L., Hill, S.M., 1992. Melatonin decreases estrogen receptor expression in the medial preoptic area of inbred (LSH/SsLak) golden hamsters. Biol. Reprod. 47, 1082–1090.
- Lee, P.P., Pang, S.F., 1993. Melatonin and its receptors in the gastrointestinal tract. Biol. Signals 2, 181–193.
- Lee, P.P., Shiu, S.Y., Chow, P.H., Pang, S.F., 1995. Regional and diurnal studies of melatonin and melatonin binding sites in the duck gastro-intestinal tract. Biol. Signals 4, 212–224.
- Leger, D., Laudon, M., Zisapel, N., 2004. Nocturnal 6-sulfatoxymelatonin excretion in insomnia and its relation to the response to melatonin replacement therapy. Am. J. Med. 116, 91–95.
- Lemoine, P., Nir, T., Laudon, M., Zisapel, N., 2007. Prolonged-release melatonin improves sleep quality and morning alertness in insomnia patients aged 55 years and older and has no withdrawal effects. J. Sleep Res. 16, 372–380.
- Leppamaki, S., Partonen, T., Vakkuri, O., Lonnqvist, J., Partinen, M., Laudon, M., 2003. Effect of controlled-release melatonin on sleep quality, mood, and quality of life in subjects with seasonal or weather-associated changes in mood and behaviour. Eur. Neuropsychopharmacol. 13, 137–145.
- Leproult, R., Van Onderbergen, A., L'hermite-Baleriaux, M., Van Cauter, E., Copinschi, G., 2005. Phase-shifts of 24-h rhythms of hormonal release and body tempera-

- ture following early evening administration of the melatonin agonist agomelatine in healthy older men. Clin. Endocrinol. (Oxf.) 63, 298–304.
- Lerner, A.B., Case, J.D., Takahashi, Y., Lee, T.H., Mori, N., 1958. Isolation of melatonin, a pineal factor that lightens melanocytes. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 80, 2587.
- Levoye, A., Dam, J., Ayoub, M.A., Guillaume, J.L., Couturier, C., Delagrange, P., Jockers, R., 2006. The orphan GPR50 receptor specifically inhibits MT₁ melatonin receptor function through heterodimerization. EMBO J. 25, 3012–3023.
- Lewy, A.J., Ahmed, S., Jackson, J.M., Sack, R.L., 1992. Melatonin shifts human circadian rhythms according to a phase–response curve. Chronobiol. Int. 9, 380–392.
- Lewy, A.J., Bauer, V.K., Cutler, N.L., Sack, R.L., 1998. Melatonin treatment of winter depression: a pilot study. Psychiatry Res. 77, 57–61.
- Lewy, A.J., Emens, J., Jackman, A., Yuhas, K., 2006. Circadian uses of melatonin in humans. Chronobiol. Int. 23, 403–412.
- Lincoln, G.A., 2006. Melatonin entrainment of circannual rhythms. Chronobiol. Int. 23, 301–306.
- Lissoni, P., 1999. The pineal gland as a central regulator of cytokine network. Neuroendocrinol. Lett. 20, 343–349.
- Lissoni, P., Barni, S., Tancini, G., Ardizzoia, A., Rovelli, F., Cazzaniga, M., Brivio, F., Piperno, A., Aldeghi, R., Fossati, D., 1993a. Immunotherapy with subcutaneous low-dose interleukin-2 and the pineal indole melatonin as a new effective therapy in advanced cancers of the digestive tract. Br. J. Cancer 67, 1404–1407.
- Lissoni, P., Brivio, F., Ardizzoia, A., Tancini, G., Barni, S., 1993b. Subcutaneous therapy with low-dose interleukin-2 plus the neurohormone melatonin in metastatic gastric cancer patients with low performance status. Tumori 79, 401–404.
- Lissoni, P., Cazzaniga, M., Tancini, G., Scardino, E., Musci, R., Barni, S., Maffezzini, M., Meroni, T., Rocco, F., Conti, A., Maestroni, G., 1997. Reversal of clinical resistance to LHRH analogue in metastatic prostate cancer by the pineal hormone melatonin: efficacy of LHRH analogue plus melatonin in patients progressing on LHRH analogue alone. Euro. Urol. 31, 178–181.
- Liu, C., Fukuhara, C., Wessel III, J.H., Iuvone, P.M., Tosini, G., 2004. Localization of Aanat mRNA in the rat retina by fluorescence in situ hybridization and laser capture microdissection. Cell Tissue Res. 315, 197–201.
- Liu, C., Weaver, D.R., Jin, X., Shearman, L.P., Pieschl, R.L., Gribkoff, V.K., Reppert, S.M., 1997. Molecular dissection of two distinct actions of melatonin on the suprachiasmatic circadian clock. Neuron 19, 91–102.
- Lockley, S., Tabandeh, H., Skene, D., Buttery, R., Bird, A., Defrace, R., Arendt, J., 1995. Day-time naps and melatonin in blind people. Lancet 346, 1491.
- Loo, H., Hale, A., D'haenen, H., 2002. Determination of the dose of agomelatine, a melatoninergic agonist and selective 5-HT_{2C} antagonist, in the treatment of major depressive disorder: a placebo-controlled dose range study. Int. Clin. Psychopharmacol. 17, 239–247.
- Lundmark, P.O., Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Srinivasan, V., Cardinali, D.P., 2006. Role of melatonin in the eye and ocular dysfunctions. Visual Neurosci. 23, 853–862.
- Lundmark, P.O., Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Srinivasan, V., Cardinali, D.P., Rosenstein, R.E., 2007. Melatonin in the eye: implications for glaucoma. Exp. Eye Res. 84, 1021– 1030.
- Lupowitz, Z., Rimler, A., Zisapel, N., 2001. Evaluation of signal transduction pathways mediating the nuclear exclusion of the androgen receptor by melatonin. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 58, 2129–2135.
- Lupowitz, Z., Zisapel, N., 1999. Hormonal interactions in human prostate tumor LNCaP cells. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 68, 83–88.
- Macias, M., Escames, G., Leon, J., Coto, A., Sbihi, Y., Osuna, A., Acuña-Castroviejo, D., 2003. Calreticulin-melatonin. An unexpected relationship. Euro. J. Biochem. 270, 832–840
- MacKenzie, R.S., Melan, M.A., Passey, D.K., Witt-Enderby, P.A., 2002. Dual coupling of MT₁ and MT₂ melatonin receptors to cyclic AMP and phosphoinositide signal transduction cascades and their regulation following melatonin exposure. Biochem. Pharmacol. 63, 587–595.
- Maestroni, G.J., 1993. The immunoneuroendocrine role of melatonin. J. Pineal Res. 14, 1–10.
- Maestroni, G.J., 2001. The immunotherapeutic potential of melatonin. Expert Opin. Investig. Drugs 10, 467–476.
- Maestroni, G.J., Conti, A., Pierpaoli, W., 1986. Role of the pineal gland in immunity. Circadian synthesis and release of melatonin modulates the antibody response and antagonizes the immunosuppressive effect of corticosterone. J. Neuroimmunol. 13, 19–30.
- Maestroni, G.J., Sulli, A., Pizzorni, C., Villaggio, B., Cutolo, M., 2002. Melatonin in rheumatoid arthritis: synovial macrophages show melatonin receptors. Annu. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 966, 271–275.
- Mailliet, F., Galloux, P., Poisson, D., 2001. Comparative effects of melatonin, zolpidem and diazepam on sleep, body temperature, blood pressure and heart rate measured by radiotelemetry in Wistar rats. Psychopharmacology (Berlin) 156, 417–426.
- Malek, T.R., Bayer, A.L., 2004. Tolerance, not immunity, crucially depends on IL-2. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 4, 665–674.
- Mariotto, A.B., Yabroff, K.R., Feuer, E.J., De Angelis, R., Brown, M., 2006. Projecting the number of patients with colorectal carcinoma by phases of care in the US: 2000–2020. Cancer Causes Control 17, 1215–1226.
- Maronde, E., Stehle, J.H., 2007. The mammalian pineal gland: known facts, unknown facets. Trends Endocrinol. Metab. 18, 142–149.
- Martins Jr., E., Fernandes, L.C., Bartol, I., Cipolla-Neto, J., Costa Rosa, L.F., 1998. The effect of melatonin chronic treatment upon macrophage and lymphocyte metabolism and function in Walker-256 tumour-bearing rats. J. Neuroimmunol. 82, 81–89.

- Masana, M.I., Benloucif, S., Dubocovich, M.L., 2000. Circadian rhythm of MT_1 melatonin receptor expression in the suprachiasmatic nucleus of the C3H/HeN mouse. J. Pineal Res. 28, 185–192.
- Masana, M.I., Doolen, S., Ersahin, C., Al Ghoul, W.M., Duckles, S.P., Dubocovich, M.L., Krause, D.N., 2002. MT₂ melatonin receptors are present and functional in rat caudal artery. J. Pharmacol. Exp. Ther. 302, 1295–1302.
- Masana, M.I., Dubocovich, M.L., 2001. Melatonin receptor signaling: finding the path through the dark. Sci STKE 2001, E39.
- Masson-Pevet, M., Bianchi, L., Pevet, P., 1996. Circadian photic regulation of melatonin receptor density in rat suprachiasmatic nuclei: comparison with light induction of fos-related protein. J. Neurosci. Res. 43, 632–637.
- Masson-Pevet, M., Gauer, F., Schuster, C., Guerrero, H.Y., 2000. Photic regulation of MT₁ melatonin receptors and 2-iodomelatonin binding in the rat and Siberian hamster. Biol. Signals Recept. 9, 188–196.
- Mazzucchelli, C., Pannacci, M., Nonno, R., Lucini, V., Fraschini, F., Stankov, B.M., 1996. The melatonin receptor in the human brain: cloning experiments and distribution studies. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 39, 117–126.
- McArthur, A.J., Hunt, A.E., Gillette, M.U., 1997. Melatonin action and signal transduction in the rat suprachiasmatic circadian clock: activation of protein kinase C at dusk and dawn. Endocrinology 138, 627–634.
- McNulty, S., Ross, A.W., Barrett, P., Hastings, M.H., Morgan, P.J., 1994. Melatonin regulates the phosphorylation of CREB in ovine pars tuberalis. J. Neuroendocrinol. 6, 523–532.
- Mediavilla, M.D., Cos, S., Sanchez-Barcelo, E.J., 1999. Melatonin increases p53 and p21WAF1 expression in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells in vitro. Life Sci. 65, 415–420.
- Mei, Y.A., Lee, P.P., Wei, H., Zhang, Z.H., Pang, S.F., 2001. Melatonin and its analogs potentiate the nifedipine-sensitive high-voltage-activated calcium current in the chick embryonic heart cells. J. Pineal Res. 30, 13–21.
- Melendez, J., Maldonado, V., Ortega, A., 1996. Effect of melatonin on beta-tubulin and MAP2 expression in NIE-115 cells. Neurochem. Res. 21, 653–658.
- Messner, M., Huether, G., Lorf, T., Ramadori, G., Schworer, H., 2001. Presence of melatonin in the human hepatobiliary–gastrointestinal tract. Life Sci. 69, 543–551.
- Middleton, B., Arendt, J., Stone, B.M., 1997. Complex effects of melatonin on human circadian rhythms in constant dim light. I. Biol. Rhythms 12. 467–477.
- Millan, M.J., 2005. Serotonin 5-HT_{2C} receptors as a target for the treatment of depressive and anxious states: focus on novel therapeutic strategies. Therapie 60, 441–460.
- Miller, J.S., Tessmer-Tuck, J., Pierson, B.A., Weisdorf, D., McGlave, P., Blazar, B.R., Katsanis, E., Verfaillie, C., Lebkowski, J., Radford Jr., J., Burns, L.J., 1997. Low dose subcutaneous interleukin-2 after autologous transplantation generates sustained in vivo natural killer cell activity. Biol. Blood Marrow Transplant. 3, 34–44
- Miller, S.C., Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Esquifino, A.I., Cardinali, D.P., Maestroni, G.J., 2006. The role of melatonin in immuno-enhancement: potential application in cancer. Int. J. Exp. Pathol. 87, 81–87.
- Molis, T.M., Spriggs, L.L., Hill, S.M., 1994. Modulation of estrogen receptor mRNA expression by melatonin in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Mol. Endocrinol. 8. 1681–1690.
- Morgan, P.J., Barrett, P., Howell, H.E., Helliwell, R., 1994. Melatonin receptors: localization, molecular pharmacology and physiological significance. Neurochem. Int. 24, 101–146.
- Motilva, V., Cabeza, J., Alarcon, d.l.L., 2001. New issues about melatonin and its effects on the digestive system. Curr. Pharm. Des. 7, 909–931.
- Musshoff, U., Riewenherm, D., Berger, E., Fauteck, J.D., Speckmann, E.J., 2002. Melatonin receptors in rat hippocampus: molecular and functional investigations. Hippocampus 12, 165–173.
- Nagtegaal, J.E., Laurant, M.W., Kerkhof, G.A., Smits, M.G., van der Meer, Y.G., Coenen, A.M., 2000. Effects of melatonin on the quality of life in patients with delayed sleep phase syndrome. J. Psychosom. Res. 48, 45–50.
- Naji, L., Carrillo-Vico, A., Guerrero, J.M., Calvo, J.R., 2004. Expression of membrane and nuclear melatonin receptors in mouse peripheral organs. Life Sci. 74, 2227– 2236
- Nelson, C.S., Ikeda, M., Gompf, H.S., Robinson, M.L., Fuchs, N.K., Yoshioka, T., Neve, K.A., Allen, C.N., 2001. Regulation of melatonin 1a receptor signaling and trafficking by asparagine-124. Mol. Endocrinol. 15, 1306–1317.
- Nelson, C.S., Marino, J.L., Allen, C.N., 1996. Melatonin receptors activate heteromeric G-protein coupled Kir3 channels. Neuroreport 7, 717–720.
- Nguyen-Legros, J., Chanut, E., Versaux-Botteri, C., Simon, A., Trouvin, J.H., 1996. Dopamine inhibits melatonin synthesis in photoreceptor cells through a D_2 -like receptor subtype in the rat retina: biochemical and histochemical evidence. J. Neurochem. 67, 2514–2520.
- Niki, T., Hamada, T., Ohtomi, M., Sakamoto, K., Suzuki, S., Kako, K., Hosoya, Y., Horikawa, K., Ishida, N., 1998. The localization of the site of arylalkylamine Nacetyltransferase circadian expression in the photoreceptor cells of mammalian retina. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 248, 115–120.
- Niles, L.P., Hashemi, F., 1990. Picomolar-affinity binding and inhibition of adenylate cyclase activity by melatonin in Syrian hamster hypothalamus. Cell. Mol. Neurobiol. 10, 553–558.
- Niles, L.P., Wang, J., Shen, L., Lobb, D.K., Younglai, E.V., 1999. Melatonin receptor mRNA expression in human granulosa cells. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 156, 107– 110
- Nosjean, O., Ferro, M., Coge, F., Beauverger, P., Henlin, J.M., Lefoulon, F., Fauchere, J.L., Delagrange, P., Canet, E., Boutin, J.A., 2000. Identification of the melato-

- nin-binding site MT_3 as the quinone reductase 2. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 31311–31317
- Nosjean, O., Nicolas, J.P., Klupsch, F., Delagrange, P., Canet, E., Boutin, J.A., 2001. Comparative pharmacological studies of melatonin receptors: MT₁, MT₂ and MT₃/QR2. Tissue distribution of MT3/QR2. Biochem. Pharmacol. 61, 1369–1379.
- Oaknin-Bendahan, S., Anis, Y., Nir, I., Zisapel, N., 1995. Effects of long-term administration of melatonin and a putative antagonist on the ageing rat. Neuroreport 6, 785-788
- Osborne, N.N., Chidlow, G., 1994. The presence of functional melatonin receptors in the iris-ciliary processes of the rabbit eye. Exp. Eye Res. 59, 3–9.
- Overstreet, D.H., Pucilowski, O., Retton, M.C., Delagrange, P., Guardiola-Lemaitre, B., 1998. Effects of melatonin receptor ligands on swim test immobility. Neuroreport 9, 249–253.
- Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Srinivasan, V., Cardinali, D.P., Monti, J.M., 2006a. Could agomelatine be the ideal antidepressant? Exp. Rev. Neurother. 6 (11), 1595–1608.
- Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Srinivasan, V., Maestroni, G.J.M., Cardinali, D.P., Poeggeler, B., Hardeland, R., 2006b. Melatonin: nature's most versatile biological signal? FEBS J. 273, 2813–2838.
- Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Srinivasan, V., Poeggeler, B., Hardeland, R., Cardinali, D.P., 2007. Drug insight: the use of melatonergic agonists for the treatment of insomnia—focus on ramelteon. Natl. Clin. Pract. Neurol. 3 (4), 221–228.
- Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Zisapel, N., Srinivasan, V., Cardinali, D.P., 2005. Melatonin and sleep in aging population. Exp. Gerontol. 40, 911–925.
- Petranka, J., Baldwin, W., Biermann, J., Jayadev, S., Barrett, J.C., Murphy, E., 1999. The oncostatic action of melatonin in an ovarian carcinoma cell line. J. Pineal Res. 26, 129–136.
- Pintor, J., Martin, L., Pelaez, T., Hoyle, C.H., Peral, A., 2001. Involvement of melatonin MT₃ receptors in the regulation of intraocular pressure in rabbits. Euro. J. Pharmacol. 416, 251–254.
- Pintor, J., Pelaez, T., Hoyle, C.H., Peral, A., 2003. Ocular hypotensive effects of melatonin receptor agonists in the rabbit: further evidence for an MT₃ receptor. Br. I. Pharmacol. 138. 831–836.
- Pontoire, C., Bernard, M., Silvain, C., Collin, J.P., Voisin, P., 1993. Characterization of melatonin binding sites in chicken and human intestines. Euro. J. Pharmacol. 247, 111–118.
- Poon, A.M., Mak, A.S., Luk, H.T., 1996. Melatonin and 2[125] liodomelatonin binding sites in the human colon. Endocr. Res. 22, 77–94.
- Pozo, D., Garcia-Maurino, S., Guerrero, J.M., Calvo, J.R., 2004. mRNA expression of nuclear receptor RZR/RORalpha, melatonin membrane receptor MT, and hydroxindole-O-methyltransferase in different populations of human immune cells. J. Pineal Res. 37. 48–54.
- Rada, J.A., Wiechmann, A.F., 2006. Melatonin receptors in chick ocular tissues: implications for a role of melatonin in ocular growth regulation. Invest. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 47, 25–33.
- Raikhlin, N.T., Kvetnoy, I.M., 1976. Melatonin and enterochromaffine cells. Acta Histochem. 55, 19–24.
- Rajaratnam, S.M., Arendt, J., 2001. Health in a 24-h society. Lancet 358, 999–1005. Ram, P.T., Dai, J., Yuan, L., Dong, C., Kiefer, T.L., Lai, L., Hill, S.M., 2002. Involvement of the MT₁ melatonin receptor in human breast cancer. Cancer Lett. 179, 141–150.
- Rato, A.G., Pedrero, J.G., Martinez, M.A., del Rio, B., Lazo, P.S., Ramos, S., 1999. Melatonin blocks the activation of estrogen receptor for DNA binding. FASEB J. 13, 857–868.
- Recio, J., Pevet, P., Vivien-Roels, B., Miguez, J.M., Masson-Pevet, M., 1996. Daily and photoperiodic melatonin binding changes in the suprachiasmatic nuclei, paraventricular thalamic nuclei, and pars tuberalis of the female Siberian hamster (*Phodopus sungorus*). J. Biol. Rhythms 11, 325–332.
- Redman, J., Armstrong, S., Ng, K.T., 1983. Free-running activity rhythms in the rat: entrainment by melatonin. Science 219, 1089–1091.
- Reiter, R.J., 1980. The pineal and its hormones in the control of reproduction in mammals. Endocr. Rev. 1, 109–131.
- Reiter, R.J., Guerrero, J.M., Garcia, J.J., Acuna-Castroviejo, D., 1998. Reactive oxygen intermediates, molecular damage, and aging. Relation to melatonin. Annu. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 854, 410–424.
- Reiter, R.J., Tan, D.X., Terron, M.P., Flores, L.J., Czarnocki, Z., 2007. Melatonin and its metabolites: new findings regarding their production and their radical scavenging actions. Acta Biochim. Pol. 54, 1–9.
- Reppert, S.M., Godson, C., Mahle, C.D., Weaver, D.R., Slaugenhaupt, S.A., Gusella, J.F., 1995. Molecular characterization of a second melatonin receptor expressed in human retina and brain: the Mel1b melatonin receptor. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 92, 8734–8738.
- Reppert, S.M., Weaver, D.R., Ebisawa, T., 1994. Cloning and characterization of a mammalian melatonin receptor that mediates reproductive and circadian responses. Neuron 13, 1177–1185.
- Reynolds, C.F., Kupler, D., 1988. Sleep in depression. In: Williams, R.Z., Karacan, I., Moore, C.A. (Eds.), Sleep Disorders, Diagnosis and Treatment. John Wiley, New York, pp. 147–164.
- Rimler, A., Culig, Z., Levy-Rimler, G., Lupowitz, Z., Klocker, H., Matzkin, H., Bartsch, G., Zisapel, N., 2001. Melatonin elicits nuclear exclusion of the human androgen receptor and attenuates its activity. Prostate 49, 145–154.
- Rimler, A., Culig, Z., Lupowitz, Z., Zisapel, N., 2002a. Nuclear exclusion of the androgen receptor by melatonin. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 81, 77–84.
- Rimler, A., Jockers, R., Lupowitz, Z., Sampson, S.R., Zisapel, N., 2006. Differential effects of melatonin and its downstream effector PKCalpha on subcellular localization of RGS proteins. J. Pineal Res. 40, 144–152.

- Rimler, A., Jockers, R., Lupowitz, Z., Zisapel, N., 2007. Gi and RGS proteins provide biochemical control of androgen receptor nuclear exclusion, I. Mol. Neurosci.
- Rimler, A., Lupowitz, Z., Zisapel, N., 2002b. Differential regulation by melatonin of cell growth and androgen receptor binding to the androgen response element in prostate cancer cells. Neuroendocrinol. Lett. 23 (Suppl. 1), 45-49.
- Rivera-Bermudez, M.A., Gerdin, M.J., Earnest, D.J., Dubocovich, M.L., 2003. Regulation of basal rhythmicity in protein kinase C activity by melatonin in immortalized rat suprachiasmatic nucleus cells. Neurosci. Lett. 346, 37-40.
- Roberts, J.E., Wiechmann, A.F., Hu, D.N., 2000. Melatonin receptors in human uveal melanocytes and melanoma cells. J. Pineal Res. 28, 165-171.
- Rodriguez, I.R., Mazuruk, K., Schoen, T.J., Chader, G.J., 1994. Structural analysis of the human hydroxyindole-O-methyltransferase gene. Presence of two distinct promoters. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 31969-31977.
- Roka, F., Brydon, L., Waldhoer, M., Strosberg, A.D., Freissmuth, M., Jockers, R., Nanoff, C., 1999. Tight association of the human Mel_{1a}-melatonin receptor and G_i: precoupling and constitutive activity. Mol. Pharmacol. 56, 1014-1024.
- Ronnberg, L., Kauppila, A., Leppaluoto, J., Martikainen, H., Vakkuri, O., 1990. Circadian and seasonal variation in human preovulatory follicular fluid melatonin concentration. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 71, 492-496.
- Rosenstein, R.E., Golombek, D.A., Kanterewicz, B.I., Cardinali, D.P., 1991. Timedependency for the bimodal effect of melatonin on calcium uptake in rat hypothalamus. Short communication. J. Neural. Transm. Gen. Sect. 85, 243-247.
- Roth, T., Seiden, D., Sainati, S., Wang-Weigand, S., Zhang, J., Zee, P., 2006. Effects of ramelteon on patient-reported sleep latency in older adults with chronic insomnia, Sleep Med. 7, 312-318.
- Roth, T., Stubbs, C., Walsh, J.K., 2005. Ramelteon (TAK-375), a selective MT₁/MT₂receptor agonist, reduces latency to persistent sleep in a model of transient insomnia related to a novel sleep environment. Sleep 28, 303-307.
- Roy, D., Angelini, N.L., Fujieda, H., Brown, G.M., Belsham, D.D., 2001. Cyclical regulation of GnRH gene expression in GT1-7 GnRH-secreting neurons by melatonin. Endocrinology 142, 4711-4720.
- Sack, R.L., Brandes, R.W., Kendall, A.R., Lewy, A.I., 2000, Entrainment of free-running circadian rhythms by melatonin in blind people. N. Engl. J. Med. 343, 1070-1077.
- Salti, R., Galluzzi, F., Bindi, G., Perfetto, F., Tarquini, R., Halberg, F., Cornelissen, G., 2000. Nocturnal melatonin patterns in children. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 85, 2137-2144.
- Sampson, S.R., Lupowitz, Z., Braiman, L., Zisapel, N., 2006. Role of protein kinase Calpha in melatonin signal transduction. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 252, 82-87.
- Sauer, L.A., Dauchy, R.T., Blask, D.E., 2001. Melatonin inhibits fatty acid transport in inguinal fat pads of hepatoma 7288CTC-bearing and normal Buffalo rats via receptor-mediated signal transduction. Life Sci. 68, 2835-2844.
- Savaskan, E., Ayoub, M.A., Ravid, R., Angeloni, D., Fraschini, F., Meier, F., Eckert, A., Muller-Spahn, F., Jockers, R., 2005. Reduced hippocampal MT₂ melatonin receptor expression in Alzheimer's disease. J. Pineal Res. 38, 10–16.
- Savaskan, E., Jockers, R., Ayoub, M., Angeloni, D., Fraschini, F., Flammer, J., Eckert, A., Muller-Spahn, F., Meyer, P., 2007. The MT₂ melatonin receptor subtype is present in human retina and decreases in Alzheimer's disease. Curr. Alzheimer Res. 4, 47-51.
- Savaskan, E., Olivieri, G., Meier, F., Brydon, L., Jockers, R., Ravid, R., Wirz-Justice, A., Muller-Spahn, F., 2002a. Increased melatonin 1a-receptor immunoreactivity in the hippocampus of Alzheimer's disease patients. J. Pineal Res. 32, 59-62.
- Savaskan, E., Wirz-Justice, A., Olivieri, G., Pache, M., Krauchi, K., Brydon, L., Jockers, R., Muller-Spahn, F., Meyer, P., 2002b. Distribution of melatonin MT₁ receptor immunoreactivity in human retina. J. Histochem. Cytochem. 50, 519-526.
- Scheer, F.A., Van Montfrans, G.A., Van Someren, E.J., Mairuhu, G., Buijs, R.M., 2004. Daily nighttime melatonin reduces blood pressure in male patients with essential hypertension. Hypertension 43, 192-197.
- Scher, J., Wankiewicz, E., Brown, G.M., Fujieda, H., 2002. MT₁ melatonin receptor in the human retina: expression and localization. Investig. Ophthalmol. Vis. Sci. 43, 889-897.
- Scher, J., Wankiewicz, E., Brown, G.M., Fujieda, H., 2003. All amacrine cells express the MT₁ melatonin receptor in human and macaque retina. Exp. Eye Res. 77, 375-382
- Schernhammer, E.S., Kroenke, C.H., Dowsett, M., Folkerd, E., Hankinson, S.E., 2006. Urinary 6-sulfatoxymelatonin levels and their correlations with lifestyle factors and steroid hormone levels. J. Pineal Res. 40, 116-124.
- Schernhammer, E.S., Laden, F., Speizer, F.E., Willett, W.C., Hunter, D.J., Kawachi, I., Fuchs, C.S., Colditz, G.A., 2003. Night-shift work and risk of colorectal cancer in the nurses' health study. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 95, 825-828.
- Schomerus, C., Korf, H.W., 2005. Mechanisms regulating melatonin synthesis in the mammalian pineal organ. Annu. N.Y. Acad. Sci. 1057, 372-383.
- Schuster, C., Gauer, F., Guerrero, H., Lakhdar-Ghazal, N., Pevet, P., Masson-Pevet, M., 2000. Photic regulation of MT₁ melatonin receptors in the Siberian hamster pars tuberalis and suprachiasmatic nuclei: involvement of the circadian clock and intergeniculate leaflet. J. Neuroendocrinol. 12, 207-216.
- Schuster, C., Gauer, F., Malan, A., Recio, J., Pevet, P., Masson-Pevet, M., 2001. The circadian clock, light/dark cycle and melatonin are differentially involved in the expression of daily and photoperiodic variations in mt(1) melatonin receptors in the Siberian and Syrian hamsters. Neuroendocrinology 74, 55-68.
- Schuster, C., Williams, L.M., Morris, A., Morgan, P.J., Barrett, P., 2005. The human MT₁ melatonin receptor stimulates cAMP production in the human neuroblastoma cell line SH-SY5Y cells via a calcium-calmodulin signal transduction pathway. J. Neuroendocrinol. 17, 170-178.

- Shiu, S.Y., Law, I.C., Lau, K.W., Tam, P.C., Yip, A.W., Ng, W.T., 2003. Melatonin slowed the early biochemical progression of hormone-refractory prostate cancer in a patient whose prostate tumor tissue expressed MT₁ receptor subtype. J. Pineal Res. 35, 177-182.
- Shochat, T., Luboshitzky, R., Lavie, P., 1997. Nocturnal melatonin onset is phase locked to the primary sleep gate. Am. J. Physiol. 273, R364-R370.
- Siegrist, C., Benedetti, C., Orlando, A., Beltrán, J.M., Tuchscherr, L., Noseda, C.M.J., Brusco, F L.I., Cardinali, D.P., 2001. Lack of changes in serum prolactin, FSH, TSH and estradiol after melatonin treatment in doses that improve sleep and reduce benzodiazepine consumption in sleep-disturbed, middle aged and elderly patients. J. Pineal Res. 30, 34-42.
- Silman, R., 1991. Melatonin and the human gonadotrophin-releasing hormone pulse generator. J. Endocrinol. 128, 7-11.
- Sircar, R., 2000. Effect of melatonin on cocaine-induced behavioral sensitization. Brain Res. 857, 295-299.
- Sjoblom, M., Flemstrom, G., 2003. Melatonin in the duodenal lumen is a potent stimulant of mucosal bicarbonate secretion. J. Pineal Res. 34, 288-293
- Sjoblom, M., Safsten, B., Flemstrom, G., 2003. Melatonin-induced calcium signaling in clusters of human and rat duodenal enterocytes. Am. J. Physiol. Gastrointest. Liver Physiol. 284, G1034-G1044.
- Skene, D.J., Papagiannidou, E., Hashemi, E., Snelling, J., Lewis, D.F., Fernandez, M., Ioannides, C., 2001. Contribution of CYP1A2 in the hepatic metabolism of melatonin: studies with isolated microsomal preparations and liver slices. J. Pineal Res. 31, 333-342.
- Slominski, A., Fischer, T.W., Zmijewski, M.A., Wortsman, J., Semak, I., Zbytek, B., Slominski, R.M., Tobin, D.I., 2005. On the role of melatonin in skin physiology and pathology. Endocrine 27, 137-148.
- Slominski, A., Pisarchik, A., Semak, I., Sweatman, T., Wortsman, J., Szczesniewski, A., Slugocki, G., McNulty, J., Kauser, S., Tobin, D.J., Jing, C., Johansson, O., 2002. Serotoninergic and melatoninergic systems are fully expressed in human skin. FASEB J. 16, 896-898.
- Slominski, A., Pisarchik, A., Wortsman, J., 2004. Expression of genes coding melatonin and serotonin receptors in rodent skin. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 1680, 67-70.
- Slominski, A., Pisarchik, A., Zbytek, B., Tobin, D.J., Kauser, S., Wortsman, J., 2003. Functional activity of serotoninergic and melatoninergic systems expressed in the skin. J. Cell Physiol. 196, 144-153.
- Sotak, M., Mrnka, L., Pacha, J., 2006. Heterogeneous expression of melatonin receptor MT₁ mRNA in the rat intestine under control and fasting conditions. I. Pineal Res. 41, 183-188.
- Souza, A.V., Visconti, M.A., Castrucci, A.M., 2003, Melatonin biological activity and
- binding sites in human melanoma cells. J. Pineal Res. 34, 242–248. Srinivasan, V., Maestroni, G.J.M., Cardinali, D.P., Esquifino, A.I., Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Miller, S.C., 2005. Melatonin, immune function and aging. Immun. Ageing 2, 17.
- Srinivasan, V., Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Poeggeler, B., Hardeland, R., 2006a. Melatonin in Alzheimer's disease and other neurodegenerative disorders. Behav. Brain Funct. 2 15
- Srinivasan, V., Smits, G., Kayumov, L., Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Cardinali, D.P., Thorpy, M.J., 2006b. Melatonin in circadian rhythm sleep disorders. In: Cardinali, D.P., Pandi-Perumal, S.R. (Eds.), Neuroendocrine Correlates of Sleep/Wakefulness. Springer, New York, pp. 269-294.
- Srinivasan, V., Smits, M., Spence, W., Lowe, A.D., Kayumov, L., Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Parry, B., Cardinali, D.P., 2006c. Melatonin in mood disorders. World J. Biol. Psychiatry 7, 138-151.
- Stevens, R.G., 2006. Artificial lighting in the industrialized world: circadian disruption and breast cancer. Cancer Causes Control 17, 501-507.
- Strettoi, E., Masland, R.H., 1996. The number of unidentified amacrine cells in the mammalian retina. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 93, 14906-14911.
- Subramanian, P., Mirunalini, S., Dakshayani, K., Pandi-Perumal, S.R., Trakht, I., Cardinali, D.P., 2007. Prevention by melatonin of hepatocarcinogenesis in rats injected with N-nitrosodiethylamine. J. Pineal Res. 43 (3), 305-312.
- Sumaya, I.C., Byers, D.M., Irwin, L.N., Del Val, S., Moss, D.E., 2004. Circadiandependent effect of melatonin on dopaminergic D2 antagonist-induced hypokinesia and agonist-induced stereotypies in rats. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 78, 727-733
- Suzuki, H., Kundig, T.M., Furlonger, C., Wakeham, A., Timms, E., Matsuyama, T., Schmits, R., Simard, J.J., Ohashi, P.S., Griesser, H., 1995. Deregulated T cell activation and autoimmunity in mice lacking interleukin-2 receptor beta. Science 268, 1472-1476.
- Tamarkin, L., Danforth, D., Lichter, A., DeMoss, E., Cohen, M., Chabner, B., Lippman, M., 1982. Decreased nocturnal plasma melatonin peak in patients with estrogen receptor positive breast cancer. Science 216, 1003-1005.
- Tan, D., Manchester, L.C., Reiter, R.J., Qi, W., Hanes, M.A., Farley, N.J., 1999. High physiological levels of melatonin in the bile of mammals. Life Sci. 65, 2523-
- Tan, D.X., Manchester, L.C., Terron, M.P., Flores, L.J., Reiter, R.J., 2007. One molecule, many derivatives: a never-ending interaction of melatonin with reactive oxygen and nitrogen species? J. Pineal Res. 42, 28-42.
- Tenn, C., Niles, L.P., 1993. Physiological regulation of melatonin receptors in rat suprachiasmatic nuclei: diurnal rhythmicity and effects of stress. Mol. Cell. Endocrinol. 98, 43-48.
- Thomson, P.A., Wray, N.R., Thomson, A.M., Dunbar, D.R., Grassie, M.A., Condie, A., Walker, M.T., Smith, D.J., Pulford, D.J., Mur, W., Blackwood, D.H., Porteus, D.J., 2005. Sex-specific association between bipolar affective disorder in women and GPR50, an X-linked orphan G protein-coupled receptor. Mol. Psychiatry 10, 470-478.

- Tonini, G., Nunziata, C., Prete, S.P., Pepponi, R., Turriziani, M., Masci, G., Graziani, G., Bonmassar, E., De Vecchis, L., 1998. Adjuvant treatment of breast cancer: a pilot immunochemotherapy study with CMF, interleukin-2 and interferon alpha. Cancer Immunol. Immunother. 47, 157–166.
- Tosini, G., Dirden, J.C., 2000. Dopamine inhibits melatonin release in the mammalian retina: in vitro evidence. Neurosci. Lett. 286, 119–122.
- Tosini, G., Menaker, M., 1998. The clock in the mouse retina: melatonin synthesis and photoreceptor degeneration. Brain Res. 789, 221–228.
- Tricoire, H., Moller, M., Chemineau, P., Malpaux, B., 2003. Origin of cerebrospinal fluid melatonin and possible function in the integration of photoperiod. Reprod. Suppl. 61, 311–321.
- Uz, T., Arslan, A.D., Kurtuncu, M., Imbesi, M., Akhisaroglu, M., Dwivedi, Y., Pandey, G.N., Manev, H., 2005. The regional and cellular expression profile of the melatonin receptor MT₁ in the central dopaminergic system. Brain Res. Mol. Brain Res. 136, 45–53.
- Vacas, M.I., Cardinali, D.P., 1979. Diurnal changes in melatonin binding sites of hamster and rat brains. Correlation with neuroendocrine responsiveness to melatonin. Neurosci. Lett. 15, 259–263.
- Vacas, M.I., Keller Sarmiento, M.I., Cardinali, D.P., 1984. Pineal methoxyindoles depress calcium uptake by rat brain synaptosomes. Brain Res. 294, 166–168.
- Vacas, M.I., Lowenstein, P., Cardinali, D.P., 1980. Dihydroergocryptine binding sites in bovine and rat pineal glands. J. Auton. Nerv. Syst. 2, 305–313.
- van den Heuvel, C.J., Kennaway, D.J., Dawson, D., 1999. Thermoregulatory and soporific effects of very low dose melatonin injection. Am. J. Physiol. 276, E249–E254.
- Vanecek, J., Kosar, E., Vorlicek, J., 1990. Daily changes in melatonin binding sites and the effect of castration. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 73, 165–170.
- Vijayalaxmi, Thomas Jr., C.R., Reiter, R.J., Herman, T.S., 2002. Melatonin: from basic research to cancer treatment clinics. J. Clin. Oncol. 20, 2575–2601.
- Viswanathan, M., Laitinen, J.T., Saavedra, J.M., 1990. Expression of melatonin receptors in arteries involved in thermoregulation. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 87, 6200–6203.
- von Gall, C., Stehle, J.H., Weaver, D.R., 2002. Mammalian melatonin receptors: molecular biology and signal transduction. Cell Tissue Res. 309, 151–162.
- Wade, A.G., Ford, I., Crawford, G., MaMahon, A.D., Nir, T., Laudon, M., Zisapel, N., 2007. Efficacy of prolonged release melatonin in insomnia patients aged 55–80 years: quality of sleep and next-day alertness outcomes. Curr. Med. Res. Opin..
- Waldhauser, F., Weiszenbacher, G., Tatzer, E., Gisinger, B., Waldhauser, M., Schemper, M., Frisch, H., 1988. Alterations in nocturnal serum melatonin levels in humans with growth and aging. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 66, 648–652.
- Wang, L.M., Suthana, N.A., Chaudhury, D., Weaver, D.R., Colwell, C.S., 2005. Melatonin inhibits hippocampal long-term potentiation. Euro. J. Neurosci. 22, 2231–2237
- Weaver, D.R., Reppert, S.M., 1996. The Mel1a melatonin receptor gene is expressed in human suprachiasmatic nuclei. Neuroreport 8, 109–112.
- Wehr, T., Goodwin, F.K., 1979. Tricyclics modulate frequency of mood cycles. Chronobiologia 6, 377–385.
- Weil, Z.M., Hotchkiss, A.K., Gatien, M.L., Pieke-Dahl, S., Nelson, R.J., 2006. Melatonin receptor (MT₁) knockout mice display depression-like behaviors and deficits in sensorimotor gating. Brain Res. Bull. 68, 425–429.
- Wenzel, U., Nickel, A., Daniel, H., 2005. Melatonin potentiates flavone-induced apoptosis in human colon cancer cells by increasing the level of glycolytic end products. Int. J. Cancer 116, 236–242.
- Wesensten, N.J., Balkin, T.J., Reichardt, R.M., Kautz, M.A., Saviolakis, G.A., Belenky, G., 2005. Daytime sleep and performance following a zolpidem and melatonin cocktail. Sleep 28, 93–103.
- Wiechmann, A.F., Rada, J.A., 2003. Melatonin receptor expression in the cornea and sclera. Exp. Eye Res. 77, 219–225.
- Wiechmann, A.F., Udin, S.B., Summers Rada, J.A., 2004. Localization of Mel_{1b} melatonin receptor-like immunoreactivity in ocular tissues of *Xenopus laevis*. Exp. Eye Res. 79, 585–594.
- Winczyk, K., Pawlikowski, M., Lawnicka, H., Kunert-Radek, J., Spadoni, G., Tarzia, G., Karasek, M., 2002. Effects of melatonin and melatonin receptors ligand N-[(4-methoxy-1H-indol-2-yl)methyl]propanamide on murine Colon 38 cancer growth in vitro and in vivo. Neuroendocrinol Lett. 23 (Suppl. 1), 50-54.

- Witt-Enderby, P.A., Bennett, J., Jarzynka, M.J., Firestine, S., Melan, M.A., 2003. Melatonin receptors and their regulation: biochemical and structural mechanisms. Life Sci. 72, 2183–2198.
- Witt-Enderby, P.A., Jarzynka, M.J., Krawitt, B.J., Melan, M.A., 2004. Knock-down of RGS4 and beta tubulin in CHO cells expressing the human MT₁ melatonin receptor prevents melatonin-induced receptor desensitization. Life Sci. 75, 2703–2715.
- Wolf, M., Schimpl, A., Hunig, T., 2001. Control of T cell hyperactivation in IL-2-deficient mice by CD4* CD25* and CD4* CD25*) T cells: evidence for two distinct regulatory mechanisms. Euro. J. Immunol. 31, 1637–1645.
- Wu, Y.H., Swaab, D.F., 2007. Disturbance and strategies for reactivation of the circadian rhythm system in aging and Alzheimer's disease. Sleep Med..
- Wu, Y.H., Zhou, J.N., Van Heerikhuize, J., Jockers, R., Swaab, D.F., 2007. Decreased MT₁ melatonin receptor expression in the suprachiasmatic nucleus in aging and Alzheimer's disease. Neurobiol. Aging 28, 1239–1247.
- Xi, S.C., Siu, S.W., Fong, S.W., Shiu, S.Y., 2001. Inhibition of androgen-sensitive LNCaP prostate cancer growth in vivo by melatonin: association of antiproliferative action of the pineal hormone with MT₁ receptor protein expression. Prostate 46, 52–61
- Xu, L., Kitani, A., Fuss, I., Strober, W., 2007. Cutting edge: regulatory T cells induce CD4*CD25-Foxp3-T cells or are self-induced to become Th17 cells in the absence of exogenous TGF-beta. J. Immunol. 178, 6725–6729.
- Yan, J.J., Shen, F., Wang, K., Wu, M.C., 2002. Patients with advanced primary hepatocellular carcinoma treated by melatonin and transcatheter arterial chemoembolization: a prospective study. Hepatobiliary Pancreat. Dis. Int. 1, 183–186.
- Yaprak, M., Altun, A., Vardar, A., Aktoz, M., Ciftci, S., Ozbay, G., 2003. Decreased nocturnal synthesis of melatonin in patients with coronary artery disease. Int. J. Cardiol. 89, 103–107.
- Ying, S.W., Rusak, B., Delagrange, P., Mocaer, E., Renard, P., Guardiola-Lemaitre, B., 1996. Melatonin analogues as agonists and antagonists in the circadian system and other brain areas. Euro. J. Pharmacol. 296, 33–42.
- Ying, S.W., Rusak, B., Mocaer, E., 1998. Chronic exposure to melatonin receptor agonists does not alter their effects on suprachiasmatic nucleus neurons. Euro. J. Pharmacol. 342, 29–37.
- Yuan, L., Collins, A.R., Dai, J., Dubocovich, M.L., Hill, S.M., 2002. MT₁ melatonin receptor overexpression enhances the growth suppressive effect of melatonin in human breast cancer cells. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 192, 147–156.
- in human breast cancer cells. Mol. Cell Endocrinol. 192, 147–156. Zhdanova, I.V., Giorgetti, M., 2002. Melatonin alters behavior and cAMP levels in
- nucleus accumbens induced by cocaine treatment. Brain Res. 956, 323–331. Zhdanova, I.V., Tucci, V., 2003. Melatonin, circadian rhythms, and sleep. Curr. Treat. Options Neurol. 5, 225–229.
- Zhou, J.N., Liu, R.Y., Kamphorst, W., Hofman, M.A., Swaab, D.F., 2003. Early neuropathological Alzheimer's changes in aged individuals are accompanied by decreased cerebrospinal fluid melatonin levels. J. Pineal Res. 35, 125–130
- Zisapel, N., 2001a. Circadian rhythm sleep disorders: pathophysiology and potential approaches to management. CNS Drugs 15, 311–328.
- Zisapel, N., 2001b. Melatonin-dopamine interactions: from basic neurochemistry to a clinical setting. Cell. Mol Neurobiol. 21, 605–616.
- Zisapel, N., 2007. Sleep and sleep disturbances: biological basis and clinical implications. Cell. Mol. Life Sci. 64, 1174–1186.
- Yerneni, L.K., Jayaraman, S., 2003. Pharmacological action of high doses of melatonin on B16 murine melanoma cells depends on cell number at time of exposure. Melanoma Res. 13, 113–117.
- Zisapel, N., Laudon, M., 1982. Dopamine release induced by electrical field stimulation of rat hypothalamus in vitro: inhibition by melatonin. Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 104, 1610–1616.
- Zisapel, N., Laudon, M., 1983. Inhibition by melatonin of dopamine release from rat hypothalamus: regulation of calcium entry. Brain Res. 272, 378–381.
- Zisapel, N., Shaharabani, M., Laudon, M., 1987. Regulation of melatonin's activity in the female rat brain by estradiol: effects on neurotransmitter release and on iodomelatonin binding sites. Neuroendocrinology 46, 207–216.
- Zupancic, M., Guilleminault, C., 2006. Agomelatine: a preliminary review of a new antidepressant. CNS Drugs 20, 981–992.